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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   There's one matter, Mr Judd, that I

         2       should raise with you because it's a matter to me of very

         3       great concern.  Yesterday during the evidence of Ms Peavey

         4       I asked if you would arrange for the production of a

         5       document, which is a document of 16 August 2002 from Ronly

         6       to Ms Peavey, and you indicated that you would.  My

         7       understanding is that, pursuant to your indication, you did

         8       obtain that document and provided it as a matter of urgency

         9       to counsel assisting me last night.

        10

        11            The document from Ronly has annexed to it three

        12       documents, the first of which we have as an exhibit;

        13       namely, confidential exhibit 34C.  The second we have as an

        14       exhibit; namely, exhibit 11.  The third document we do not

        15       have, and it is the critical one - and it is critical.

        16

        17            In addition, the letter of 16 August is in response to

        18       a letter from Ms Peavey of 13 August which was requested

        19       last night, having received the letter of 16 August, I'm

        20       told, and produced this morning.  It seems apparent to me

        21       that these documents ought to have been produced months

        22       ago.  I am unable to understand why they were not.

        23

        24             They concern Ronly, they concern the Amarantos, they

        25       concern Iraq freight and trucking fees, they concern

        26       Mr Emons, they concern Mr Bali, they concern United Nations

        27       sanctions.  I do not know the manner in which AWB are

        28       responding to the notices which have been served on them,

        29       but if there had been a search of documents - namely, the

        30       emails of Mr Emons; we have emails from him around this

        31       time - it ought to have discovered this document.  As it

        32       turns out, the document that has been provided has

        33       handwriting on it, which means that a hard copy must have

        34       been taken and it's apparent that Ms Peavey has made some

        35       notes on it.  That means that AWB must have a hard copy

        36       file from which this document came.

        37

        38            If proper search had been made, either electronically

        39       or of the hard copy files, these documents should have been

        40       found.  Any string of searches of Mr Emons, sanctions, UN,

        41       Australia policy in relation to payment directly to Iraq,

        42       Ronly, money laundering, disguise of the fees - things like

        43       that - would have picked up this document.

        44

        45            The concern I have is that I do not know what other

        46       documents there are which have not been produced to me.  I

        47       am told that this morning you kindly made available three
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         1       volumes of documents which flowed as a result of the

         2       production of these two documents last night and this

         3       morning.  I was told as I was about to come on to the bench

         4       that within those three volumes are the advices from

         5       Phillips Fox which were referred to by Ms Peavey yesterday.

         6       The advices of Phillips Fox were the subject of a claim for

         7       privilege by AWB in the proceeding before Mr Justice Young

         8       in the Federal Court.  That claim was upheld on the basis

         9       that the Commonwealth didn't oppose it, presumably because

        10       they didn't know anything about it, they not having seen

        11       the documents.

        12

        13            Yesterday, when the question of Phillips Fox advice

        14       arose, you informed me that there were three numbered

        15       documents in the list of documents upheld as being

        16       privileged by Mr Justice Young.  As of this morning I

        17       understand AWB waives that privilege, because it's produced

        18       these documents to this inquiry this morning.  So that we

        19       seem to have a, if I might call it this, very moveable

        20       feast in relation to what is privileged, the basis on which

        21       it's claimed and whether it's been waived, and my concern

        22       is that this inquiry has all the documents it's entitled

        23       to.

        24

        25            I have been told - you should correct me if this is

        26       wrong - that counsel assisting me this morning were told

        27       that the document from Mr Emons, which is the third

        28       annexure to the letter produced last night, was regarded by

        29       those who inspected it on behalf of AWB as being irrelevant

        30       to the subject matter of this inquiry.  It is inconceivable

        31       to me that any lawyer could take that view.

        32

        33            I have also been told - correct me if I'm wrong - that

        34       it was Ms Peavey who took that decision.  My understanding

        35       also is that it's Ms Peavey who was for some time, if not

        36       now, in charge of document production in response to the

        37       notices to this inquiry.  If she took the view that this

        38       document is irrelevant, I have great concerns about what

        39       those who might have been assisting her may think about

        40       relevance or irrelevance of documents in response to the

        41       notices we've issued.

        42

        43            There may be matters you want to put to me.  It makes

        44       it the more important that I have a very full explanation

        45       of precisely what it is that has been done to respond to

        46       the notices that this inquiry has issued and that there

        47       have been satisfactory responses provided by delivery of
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         1       documents.

         2

         3       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, could I respond in this way:

         4       there is no doubt about the relevance of this document.

         5       There is no doubt about the importance of this document.

         6       When it came to our attention, we recognised that

         7       immediately and made arrangements to have it communicated

         8       as a matter of urgency to the Commission.

         9

        10            There is no doubt that this document falls into a

        11       category which, plainly, ought to have been provided to the

        12       Commission months ago.  Whilst you, Commissioner, have not

        13       sought to draw the further conclusion, it does seem to us

        14       that had the email in particular been before this

        15       Commission at a very early stage, it may well have

        16       shortened some of the inquiry.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   There's no doubt, if we had had this

        19       document and others.

        20

        21       MR JUDD:   It is a crucial document.  Now, as to the

        22       circumstances in which the document was, if I may say so,

        23       neutrally overlooked in the production of material, we

        24       understand that it was regarded together with many of the

        25       other documents contained in the three folders that were

        26       provided this morning as irrelevant.  It's difficult to

        27       understand how that would be, particularly, Commissioner,

        28       as you have rightly, with respect, said that there was

        29       consideration of that file for the purpose of the privilege

        30       claim in the Federal Court.

        31

        32            The steps taken by AWB this morning in the production

        33       of the whole file, which includes this document, even

        34       though it contains three privileged documents that were

        35       upheld in the Federal Court or conceded by the

        36       Commonwealth, were taken on instructions because of the

        37       perceived seriousness of the matter; that is, that this, as

        38       an important document, had not been produced and we were

        39       instructed in those circumstances that the whole of the

        40       Amarantos file should be produced to the Commission so that

        41       the Commission would have the opportunity to look at it.

        42

        43            Now, from our point of view - when I say "our point of

        44       view", I'm confining it to those instructing me - when a

        45       notice was issued to Ms Peavey some short time ago and

        46       documents were produced to the inquiry, Mr Mitchell, of my

        47       instructing solicitors, identified what in his view were
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         1       gaps in the material.  As a consequence of that, he made

         2       his own inquiries of the internal legal department at AWB

         3       to obtain for himself satisfaction that there were not

         4       other documents that might satisfy his concern about those

         5       gaps.  He spoke to a Ms Lou about that matter and was

         6       provided with the three folders that the Commission now

         7       has.

         8

         9            Those folders were sent up to Sydney a little over one

        10       week ago and regrettably were not analysed by him until the

        11       issue was raised by the Commission yesterday, at which

        12       point we acted promptly to review those folders to see if

        13       they contained the material that was sought.  Having done

        14       so, we acted as we did by providing the folders to the

        15       Commission and the documents of particular relevance to

        16       counsel assisting as a matter of urgency last night.

        17

        18            As far as Mr Emons' email is concerned, it seems to us

        19       most unusual, with the search criteria that were applied -

        20       and I might say applied by third parties in the review;

        21       that is, consultants in the review of the back-up tapes and

        22       disks - that this particular email was not produced as a

        23       consequence, and of course the Commission received the

        24       material that was produced by the third-party consultants,

        25       and we are not able to find this email, and obviously the

        26       Commission has not been able to find it either amongst the

        27       material that was provided.

        28

        29            We have no reason to believe but that the consultants

        30       engaged to undertake this task did it diligently and

        31       properly.  The only explanation that we can offer is that

        32       in the Arthur Andersen report there is some suggestion of

        33       the damage done or destruction of Mr Emons' hard drive.

        34       Now, we have no evidence of that apart from the Arthur

        35       Andersen report, but at least it may provide some

        36       explanation as to why it is the review of the material is

        37       in some way incomplete.

        38

        39            The final issue, Commissioner, that causes us as legal

        40       advisers to AWB, and may I say the board, a great deal of

        41       concern is quite how it is that we are able to satisfy the

        42       Commission properly, in view of this event, that all

        43       relevant material falling within the notices has been

        44       provided.

        45

        46            Now, we know that Ms Gillingham has provided already

        47       some explanation of the process to the Commission.  There
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         1       was a point at which we had thought that this was a matter

         2       that might be addressed by Ms Peavey or some other person

         3       in the legal department.  We are considering approaching

         4       again Ms Gillingham.  But apart from that as a course to

         5       provide satisfaction to the Commission, which we concede is

         6       appropriate, we see no other course open to us.

         7

         8            So what we will do is approach Ms Gillingham, who of

         9       course is no longer with AWB but who did have the overall

        10       management of the process, to provide a statutory

        11       declaration to the effect, we believe, required by the

        12       Commission of not only the process but, to the extent she

        13       can, her satisfaction that reasonable inquiries were made

        14       and that all documents falling within the scope of the

        15       notices as a consequence of those inquiries are produced.

        16

        17            But as the Commission rightly points out, having

        18       regard to the most recent event, that will always be

        19       tempered by a qualification that one cannot be absolutely

        20       certain, and all we can do is, on behalf of the board and

        21       the legal advisers, assure this Commission that we will be

        22       diligent to ensure as best we can that those obligations

        23       which are imposed on AWB by the notices are properly

        24       discharged, and insofar as we become aware of any

        25       additional material of this kind, the Commission can be

        26       confident that we will provide it as a matter of urgency

        27       and the Commission can also be confident that we will not

        28       simply be passive in the process of accepting from those

        29       who have hitherto had control of the process their view as

        30       to what is relevant and what is not.

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you, Mr Judd.  One problem we

        33       have, as you have rightly pointed out, is that it is now

        34       known that the process that AWB has undertaken has failed,

        35       because of these recent events.  At the very least I will

        36       require a satisfactory explanation about how this document

        37       was not discovered earlier.

        38

        39       MR JUDD:   Yes.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   I will look at the balance in due

        42       course.

        43

        44       MR JUDD:   Thank you, Commissioner.

        45

        46       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, perhaps I should tender the

        47       letter that was sent to myself last night following the
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         1       conversation that Mr Judd had with me, which covered the

         2       documents which Mr Judd brought to my attention after we

         3       rose yesterday afternoon.  I tender those documents as one

         4       bundle - AWB.0469.0100 through to 0107.  The fax to me

         5       covered a copy of Mr Nori Bali's fax to AWB of 16 August

         6       2002 and his annexures to that fax, which included the copy

         7       of an email from Mr Emons to Nori Bali of 7 March 2000 in

         8       which Mr Emons explains to Nori Bali the rationale for

         9       using Ronly to transmit payments.  In particular, in that

        10       regard, one of the two reasons he gave was, "To divorce

        11       clearly from the FOB price any connection with a

        12       shipping/logistics charge should the contracts come under

        13       scrutiny", and, further, that by using Ronly "It would be

        14       ideal from our point of view if we have a third party that

        15       handles the freight and trucking as an item.  This not only

        16       saves us time but does disguise the fee", and it makes

        17       plain that Ronly's role was an exercise of administration

        18       only.

        19

        20            That was the key document.  I will tender those

        21       documents as one bundle.  This morning we were provided

        22       with a fax of 13 August 2002 from Rosemary Peavey to Nori

        23       Bali, the existence of which we were alerted to once we saw

        24       the fax from Nori Bali to AWB of 16 August 2002, because it

        25       in turn refers to this fax of 13 August 2002.  I will

        26       tender that fax, AWB.0469.0108, and the accompanying proof

        27       of transmission of the facsimile to Mr Bali at 0109.

        28

        29       EXHIBIT #1347 LETTER FROM MR JUDD TO MR AGIUS DATED

        30       27/9/2006, TOGETHER WITH ACCOMPANYING DOCUMENTS

        31       BARCODED AWB.0469.0100 THROUGH TO 0107; FAX

        32       BARCODED AWB.0469.0108 AND ACCOMPANYING PROOF OF

        33       TRANSMISSION OF FACSIMILE TO MR BALI,

        34       BARCODED AWB.0469.0109

        35

        36       MR AGIUS:  If it's convenient, I will return to the

        37       examination of Mr Quennell.

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        40

        41       <CHRISTOPHER STEPHEN CHAMEN QUENNELL, on former oath:

        42       [11.32am]

        43

        44       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS CONTINUING:

        45

        46       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Quennell, yesterday I took you to a

        47       draft statement in the name of Mr Stott which became
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         1       exhibit 1337, and you may recall that it was a

         2       MinterEllison document bearing the date 12 September 2004.

         3       Overnight we discovered an additional document, which is in

         4       much the same form but it's dated 1 October 2004.  Can we

         5       bring up, please, AWB.9001.0294.  Do you see that that page

         6       of the document is dated 1 October 2004?

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       Q.   And then if we go to the next page, 0295, that page is

        10       dated 12 September 2004, but it's not an exact duplicate of

        11       the second page of the statement that I showed you

        12       yesterday.  Indeed, if one compares the two statements, the

        13       two drafts, there are some differences, none of them

        14       terribly significant but there are differences.  I just

        15       draw that to your attention.  Can you say anything about

        16       how it came about that an apparent second draft of the

        17       statement was created on what appears to be 1 October 2004?

        18       A.   Mr Agius, I'm not able to assist in that regard.  This

        19       certainly appears to be a MinterEllison-produced document.

        20       I don't have any specific recollection of the circumstances

        21       of those chains of emails.

        22

        23       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I will tender that document.

        24       It was document number 333 in the list of claimed privilege

        25       documents, AWB.9001.0294 through to 0305.

        26

        27       EXHIBIT #1348 ADDITIONAL DRAFT STATEMENT IN THE NAME OF

        28       MR STOTT, DATED 1/10/2004, BARCODED AWB.9001.0294-0305

        29

        30       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You may recall that yesterday I was asking

        31       you some questions about the Project Water summary document

        32       which had been signed off by Messrs Long, Whitwell and

        33       Stott.  Overnight I've discovered an earlier version of

        34       that document.  Could we bring up, please, AWB.9001.0155.

        35       This is marked as a draft of Project Water Summary.  It's

        36       unsigned and incomplete, in the sense that it only runs to

        37       32 paragraphs.  Could I draw your attention to the

        38       manuscript with markings on the document.  Perhaps we could

        39       go to the next page, 0156.  Once you've seen those markings

        40       would you indicate, and we can then go to 0158.  Can you

        41       identify the handwriting?

        42       A.   I believe it's Jim Cooper's.

        43

        44       Q.   The bottom right-hand margin on that page, 0158,

        45       refers to Peter Geary's memo and Jess Lyons' advice against

        46       paragraph 26, and under the heading "Tab 12".  This may be

        47       a matter of mere administration, but the copy that we have
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         1       of the Project Water Summary documents is blank behind tab

         2       12.  Were you aware of a memorandum from Mr Geary dealing

         3       with what is set out in paragraph 26?

         4       A.   No, I don't recall being aware of that memorandum.

         5

         6       Q.   Are you aware of any Jessica Lyons advice dealing with

         7       the material set out in paragraph 26?

         8       A.   I am aware from looking at documents recently that

         9       there was an inquiry being made as to whether there was

        10       such an advice.

        11

        12       Q.   Do you know the result of that inquiry?

        13       A.   No, I don't.

        14

        15       Q.   We're aware of an advice from Ms Lyons which deals

        16       with the iron filings matter and the way in which that

        17       compensation might be paid.  I'm happy to be corrected, but

        18       I'm not aware of any advice dealing with the Tigris matter

        19       and, in particular, touching on the matters in

        20       paragraph 26.

        21       A.   Yes, I'm aware of the Jessica Lyons advice in relation

        22       to the iron filings matter, but I'm not aware of the advice

        23       she gave in relation to the Tigris matter.

        24

        25       MR AGIUS:   I tender the document which is the draft

        26       Project Water Summary, AWB.9001.0155 through to and

        27       inclusive of 0159.

        28

        29       EXHIBIT #1349 DRAFT PROJECT WATER SUMMARY,

        30       BARCODED AWB.9001.0155-0159.

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   Q.   We have as exhibit 1292 an email from

        33       Mr Cooper to Ms Scales of 9 September 2004.  Could we bring

        34       that up, please - AWB.0277.0026.  Mr Cooper advises in this

        35       email:

        36

        37            ... have finished factual review.  Briefing

        38            Andrew Lindberg on that tomorrow.

        39            Conclusion is that on the facts we have

        40            been provided there is no breach of

        41            Australian law.  Facts are however quite

        42            patchy.  There appears to be a breach of UN

        43            resolution 661 because the increase in

        44            contract payments to repay the Tigris debt

        45            and the processing of this higher amount

        46            through the OFF program was never disclosed

        47            and was not a payment for a humanitarian



            .28/9/06 (75)              7451     C S C QUENNELL (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1            purpose.

         2

         3       I just draw your attention to the date, which is

         4       9 September 2004.  We are aware that advice was obtained in

         5       conference from Mr Tracey, but as at that date Mr Tracey

         6       had not advised in relation to the Tigris matter; he'd

         7       advised in effect in relation to Project Rose.  We're not

         8       able to locate any advice in relation to the Tigris matter

         9       until we come to the advice of junior counsel, which I

        10       believe is dated 13 October.  As at 9 September 2004 had

        11       you provided advice to Mr Cooper to the effect that there

        12       had been no breach of the Australian law but that there

        13       appeared to be a breach of UN Resolution 661?

        14       A.   I don't recall providing any such advice.

        15

        16       Q.   Do you know what the source of any such advice might

        17       have been?

        18       A.   No.

        19

        20       Q.   You hadn't briefed anybody to provide an advice in

        21       relation to the Tigris matter before briefing junior

        22       counsel in October of that year, had you?

        23       A.   No, I had not.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Quennell, you gave advice I

        26       think in August 2003 to the effect that there might have

        27       been a breach of Australian law and that there might have

        28       been a breach of United Nations sanctions.

        29       A.   In relation to the payment of trucking fees generally,

        30       Commissioner, yes.

        31

        32       Q.   Yes.  Did you ever yourself provide any advice

        33       contrary to that?

        34       A.   I don't believe so.

        35

        36       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Junior counsel's advice can be found

        37       within the volume marked as exhibit 1276.  Can we bring up,

        38       please, AWB.9001.0312.  You'll see in the first paragraph

        39       he says that by memorandum dated 5 October 2004 he had been

        40       asked to provide advice.  Would you look at this document

        41       not yet barcoded and confirm that that is the relevant

        42       memorandum?

        43       A.   Yes, it is.

        44

        45       MR AGIUS:   I tender that two-page document.  We'll arrange

        46       to have it barcoded, Mr Commissioner.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   How shall I describe it?

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   It's instructions to counsel dated 5 October

         4       2004, and it includes a back sheet.

         5

         6       EXHIBIT #1350 INSTRUCTIONS TO COUNSEL DATED 5/10/2004,

         7       INCLUDING BACK SHEET BARCODED AWB.9001.0312-0313

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Junior counsel provided his advice in

        10       draft form on 13 October 2004, and we know that because

        11       it's been provided.  Do you know why it was that that

        12       advice was provided in draft form rather than in final

        13       form?

        14       A.   I believe it was because Dr Donaghue was involved in a

        15       case and, because of time constraints, had not been able to

        16       complete it.

        17

        18       Q.   What we know is that the next day, 14 October 2004,

        19       you sent additional instructions to Mr Tracey and you sent

        20       instructions to Mr Richter seeking advices from each of

        21       those senior counsel.  I take it you did that on

        22       instructions?

        23       A.   Yes, I did.

        24

        25       Q.   Why did you decide, after receiving the draft advice

        26       from junior counsel, Dr Donaghue, to go to senior counsel

        27       for advice on basically the same subject matter?

        28       A.   I had discussed with Dr Donaghue his draft advice

        29       briefly.  He explained that he thought it would be

        30       appropriate to do that, and so that's what I did.

        31

        32       Q.   You had read Dr Donaghue's draft advice before

        33       briefing senior counsel?

        34       A.   Yes, I had.

        35

        36       Q.   Did you agree to it?

        37       A.   I don't think I formed a firm view at that stage as to

        38       whether I agreed with it or not.  I thought it necessary,

        39       especially after I'd spoken to Dr Donaghue, to seek the

        40       advice of senior counsel.

        41

        42       Q.   Can I pass you this folder.  Is that the brief that

        43       you sent to Mr Richter?

        44       A.   It appears to be, yes.

        45

        46       Q.   With the exception of the obvious markings made by

        47       Mr Richter on the brief, or made at least on his behalf,
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         1       can you confirm that a brief in similar form containing the

         2       same material but for the draft advice of Dr Donaghue was

         3       forwarded to Mr Tracey?

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   So Mr Tracey's brief - that is, the edition of his

         7       brief - was in the same form as went to Mr Richter, save

         8       that it didn't include the advice of Dr Donaghue?

         9       A.   Yes, I believe the actual instructions would have been

        10       worded somewhat differently, but insofar as I can recall

        11       the briefs had the same amount of tabs and the same

        12       documents behind the instructions.

        13

        14       Q.   We separately have - I think I covered with you

        15       yesterday - the separate instructions that went one to

        16       Mr Richter and one to Mr Tracey.

        17

        18       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I'll tender the brief that

        19       Mr Quennell has identified.  There are some markings on the

        20       back sheet and spine that I will not include in the tender,

        21       other than to get from Mr Quennell his confirmation that

        22       Mr Richter advised in conference on 15 October.

        23

        24       THE WITNESS:   I believe he did advise in conference and

        25       he's marked 15 October, yes, so I assume that's the date.

        26

        27       EXHIBIT #1351 FOLDER CONTAINING BRIEF FORWARDED TO

        28       MR RICHTER, IDENTIFIED BY MR QUENNELL

        29

        30       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Yesterday you said in evidence that you

        31       had spoken with Mr Lindberg, and I recollect that it was in

        32       February of 2005, and, although I'm not quoting you

        33       verbatim, the substance of what you said was that you'd

        34       expressed your reservations to him.  We know that there was

        35       a board meeting, or there were meetings of AWB

        36       International and AWB Limited on 22 February 2005 - that

        37       is, a joint meeting of both boards - which was addressed by

        38       Mr Lindberg sometime after 4pm on that day.  Did you speak

        39       to Mr Lindberg about your reservations before 22 February

        40       2005?

        41       A.   Yes, I did.  I had a meeting on 14 February 2005, so

        42       far as I can recall.

        43

        44       Q.   To the best of your recollection, Mr Quennell, what

        45       did you say to Mr Lindberg?

        46       A.   There was a discussion which centred around a number

        47       of documents which I produced for that meeting which
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         1       Mr Lindberg was taken through and we said that these

         2       documents would require explanation.

         3

         4       Q.   Is there any way of identifying which documents it was

         5       that you took Mr Lindberg through?

         6       A.   I don't have those documents, but I do remember in

         7       particular taking Mr Lindberg to a trip report I think in

         8       August 2002.

         9

        10       Q.   What do you remember about the trip report?

        11       A.   I recall that that trip report dealt with the iron

        12       filings matter, I believe, and the reason for it being

        13       brought to Mr Lindberg's attention was because it reported

        14       that Mr Lindberg was there - was, sorry, on that trip.

        15

        16       Q.   Did you take Mr Lindberg to the trip report of

        17       February 2001; that is, the trip report which is said on

        18       its face to be co-authored by Mr Borlase and Mr Hogan and

        19       in which there's a reference to the increase in the

        20       trucking fee and the imposition of the 10 per cent service

        21       fee as perhaps being a method of extracting more money from

        22       the escrow account?

        23       A.   I don't recall whether I took him to that particular

        24       document.  The one document I do remember taking him to is

        25       the one to which I've previously referred.

        26

        27       Q.   When you said a trip report of August 2002, can you

        28       recall the form of it?  Could we bring up AWB.0176.0053.

        29       Could we go to 0055.  That's not going to assist us very

        30       much.  Let me show you an unedited copy of the document.

        31       Is that the document to which you took Mr Lindberg?

        32       A.   I don't recall whether this was the - it may well have

        33       been amongst the documents that were shown to Mr Lindberg.

        34       This doesn't appear to show that he was on that trip,

        35       though, so I can't say I'm certain about that.

        36

        37       Q.   That was a briefing paper prepared in advance of the

        38       trip, I believe.

        39       A.   Yes, it appears to be.

        40

        41       Q.   I wonder if you might return that to me.  Did you

        42       discuss with Mr Lindberg any of the emails from 1999

        43       concerning the payment or imposition of a trucking fee?

        44       A.   I believe we would have done that, yes.

        45

        46       Q.   What did you say, aside from saying that these matters

        47       might require explanation?  Did you express your own
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         1       reservations?

         2       A.   I don't recall particularly what I said, but I may

         3       well have expressed my own reservations.

         4

         5       Q.   Did you give Mr Lindberg to believe that your view was

         6       that UN sanctions had been circumvented?

         7       A.   I don't believe that I went that far.  I just don't

         8       recall particularly what I told Mr Lindberg on that day.

         9

        10       Q.   Do you have any note of it?

        11       A.   No, I don't believe I do.

        12

        13       Q.   Did you follow it up with any letter confirming what

        14       you'd said on that day?

        15       A.   No, I did not.

        16

        17       Q.   Did you have any particular purpose in this meeting

        18       with Mr Lindberg on I think you said 14 February?

        19       A.   I believe that I was asked to attend that meeting by

        20       Jim Cooper and the meeting was then arranged, and that's

        21       why I was there.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   This was about a fortnight before

        24       Mr Lindberg was to be interviewed by the IIC investigators.

        25       A.   Yes.

        26

        27       Q.   Was this meeting preliminary to that?

        28       A.   I can't recall whether it was arranged specifically

        29       for that, Commissioner, but it may well have been.

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Who else was present at the meeting?

        32       A.   As far as I can recall, Jim Cooper, Scott Chesterman

        33       from MinterEllison and Richard Fuller.

        34

        35       Q.   Did you make a file note of the meeting?

        36       A.   I don't recall making a file note of that meeting.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:  Somebody must have, surely.  There were

        39       three lawyers there.  I can't believe there's not a note of

        40       it.  Do we not have any notes of that meeting?

        41

        42       MR AGIUS:   It's often the happy experience of senior

        43       lawyers attending meetings like that that they attend in

        44       the company of a number of acolytes.  Were there any junior

        45       lawyers attending for the purpose of making notes?

        46       A.   I don't recall that any junior lawyers attended,

        47       Mr Agius, no.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   Would you have a look, Mr Judd, please?

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   Q.   In relation to another matter, could we

         5       bring up, please, AWB.9000.0358.  Are they your notes of

         6       the attendance upon Mr Tracey on 25 May 2004, when he gave

         7       you advice in conference?

         8       A.   Yes, they are.

         9

        10       Q.   Could we bring up AWB.0468.0015.  Is that a typescript

        11       of your notes?

        12       A.   Yes, it is.

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   I tender those two documents.  I'd ask that

        15       they be marked as the one exhibit.

        16

        17       EXHIBIT #1352 MR QUENNELL'S HANDWRITTEN NOTES IN

        18       RELATION TO ATTENDANCE UPON MR TRACEY ON 25/5/2004

        19       BARCODED AWB.9000.0358,  TOGETHER WITH TYPESCRIPT OF NOTES

        20       BARCODED AWB.0468.0015

        21

        22       MR AGIUS:   I think they're self-explanatory.  I won't

        23       spend any more time on those.  Finally, can we bring up,

        24       please, Ms Peavey's notes of a conference with Mr Borlase

        25       conducted on 28 April 2004, exhibit 1320 - AWB.9003.0322.

        26

        27       Q.   That's the first page of four pages of notes that we

        28       have that Ms Peavey took during the course of this

        29       conference.  The notes indicate your attendance.

        30       A.   Yes.

        31

        32       Q.   I want to go to the last page of the notes.  Could we

        33       bring up, please, AWB.9003.0325.  At the very bottom of the

        34       page, alongside the name "Rex Lister", Ms Peavey has

        35       written some notes:

        36

        37            Recall why the change in wording in clause

        38            regarding FOT from 4822, then 4970.

        39

        40       Then the word "email", underneath that "4822 - any other

        41       doc", probably "document", "from UN", and "4970 - 71 - 72 -

        42       Jan 2000 - UN document".  Do you have a recollection as to

        43       what was said that gave rise to that note?

        44       A.   I don't have a precise recollection, but I believe it

        45       would have related to a question which was put to Mr Lister

        46       as to the reason for the change in wording in the different

        47       versions of, for example, contract 4970.
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         1

         2       Q.   What we know from an examination of those contracts

         3       now is that in January 2000 the wording in relation to the

         4       FOT clause or the FIT clause changed significantly to

         5       remove any mention of any specific sum on account of any

         6       discharge fee or trucking fee.  Would you agree with me

         7       that this note indicates that at least as at April of 2004

         8       the circumstances in which that change came about was an

         9       issue that had been raised?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   Did you ever obtain any answer as to how it was that

        13       that change in the FIT or FOT clause had come about?

        14       A.   I don't have a specific recollection of who told me,

        15       but I do remember it being suggested that because the first

        16       four or five contracts which have the extended wording in

        17       had been approved by the UN, it wasn't considered necessary

        18       to have the extended wording in subsequent contracts.  As I

        19       say, I don't remember who told me that and I don't have any

        20       other recollection of that.

        21

        22       Q.   Did that explanation, such as you recall it, contain

        23       within it any explanation as to why it was that when the

        24       trucking fees rose significantly - indeed, quadrupled - the

        25       clause wasn't reintroduced into the contract?

        26       A.   No, I don't recall that explanation being changed to

        27       include that or deal with that.

        28

        29       Q.   In terms of that explanation, do you recall whether it

        30       was an AWB person who told that to you, or might it have

        31       been one of the lawyers?

        32       A.   I can't recall whether it was one of the lawyers or a

        33       non-lawyer, I'm afraid, no.

        34

        35       Q.   So you can't recall whether it was an expression of

        36       opinion or an expression of fact?

        37       A.   No, I can't.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Thank you.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Can you bring up, please,

        42       AWB.0129.0199.  It's exhibit 28.  Mr Quennell, is that the

        43       document you discussed with Mr Lindberg in February 2005?

        44       A.   Commissioner, that document does look familiar and it

        45       may well have been the one that I had in mind.  I'm not

        46       positive, but it's quite likely.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Do you recall what the substance of the

         4       discussion was?  Does that document assist you?

         5       A.   I don't recall specifically, but I think now, looking

         6       at that, that there was discussion with Mr Lindberg

         7       concerning the iron filings issue, but more than that I

         8       can't really recall now.

         9

        10       Q.   You will see from that document that at about point 6

        11       on the page there is recorded:

        12

        13            ...unfortunately in discussion with the

        14            Minister of Trade he has continually

        15            insisted on repayment directly as an

        16            addition to the inland transport.  Now that

        17            the new contract has been concluded ISM

        18            need a sign off to organise this payment.

        19

        20       Do you recall discussing that topic with Mr Lindberg?

        21       A.   I believe that it was discussed, but I don't have any

        22       specific recollection beyond that.

        23

        24       Q.   Do you have any recollection as to whether or not

        25       Mr Lindberg expressed a view in favour of that course of

        26       action, or opposed to that course of action?

        27       A.   No, I don't have any specific recollection about it.

        28

        29       Q.   Could we bring up, please, exhibit 498, which is

        30       AWB.0338.0050.  This is a memorandum from Mr Lindberg to

        31       the directors of both boards.  In it, under the heading

        32       "Action already undertaken", the following is said:

        33

        34            Last year we commenced a detailed review of

        35            the facts surrounding AWB's Oil for Food

        36            Contracts with Iraq.  This has involved

        37            reviewing over 30,000 emails, many files

        38            and interviewing AWB management.  The

        39            process has been led by Chris Quennell,

        40            Trade & Transport lawyer with Blake Dawson

        41            Waldron, Melbourne.

        42

        43            A report on the factual findings will be

        44            tabled with AWB management tomorrow and I

        45            will be in a position to brief you next

        46            week.

        47
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         1       Now, that memo is dated 6 May 2004.  We know that Mr Tracey

         2       was briefed on 12 May and that he advised in conference on

         3       25 May.  Was there ever a written report on factual

         4       findings?

         5       A.   No, there wasn't a formal report on the factual

         6       findings and, in any event, I would have regarded the

         7       findings as being complete as at 6 May 2004.

         8

         9       Q.   Did you ever report to Mr Lindberg or Mr Whitwell, or

        10       indeed anybody at AWB, that you were in a position to

        11       provide a report on factual findings such that might be

        12       tabled with AWB management as at 6 May 2004?

        13       A.   I don't recall that at all, no.

        14

        15       Q.   Did you ever regard yourself as being in a position to

        16       table a report on factual findings at about that date, 6 or

        17       7 May 2004?

        18       A.   I wouldn't have regarded myself as being in a position

        19       to provide a final report as at 6 May 2004 at all.

        20

        21       Q.   I may have touched on this yesterday, but did you ever

        22       provide a copy of the Blakes advice that we touched on

        23       today and also yesterday to the board or to Mr Lindberg?

        24       A.   I did not, no.

        25

        26       Q.   Do you know from anything that you've been told or

        27       anything that you've seen whether or not such a copy was

        28       ever provided to the board or Mr Lindberg?

        29       A.   I don't know whether it was or not.  As part of the

        30       review of the records for this inquiry we were asked to

        31       look at board reports and I do remember thinking that there

        32       was no mention in the board reports to my advice.

        33

        34       Q.   Did you provide a report to Mr Lindberg in May of 2004

        35       or in June of 2004 on any findings that had resulted from

        36       the detailed review that had been conducted up to that

        37       point in time?

        38       A.   I don't recall providing him with a formal report on

        39       that at that time.

        40

        41       Q.   Leaving aside a written report, did you provide him

        42       with any oral report?

        43       A.   I don't recall providing him with an oral report.

        44

        45       Q.   May we take it that your view about this matter had

        46       not changed from the date at which you had provided the

        47       advice on behalf of Blakes until May of 2004?
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   May we also take it that if you had been asked to and

         4       if you had indeed provided a report in early May of 2004,

         5       before you received Mr Tracey's advice, it's likely that

         6       any report that you would have provided would have included

         7       reference to the advice that you'd given earlier?

         8       A.   That's conjecture, but it's quite possible.

         9

        10       Q.   You didn't see any reason to keep that advice secret

        11       from Mr Lindberg or the board?

        12       A.   No, not at all.

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   That completes my examination of Mr Quennell,

        15       Mr Commissioner.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Priest?

        18

        19       <EXAMINATION BY MR PRIEST:

        20

        21       MR PRIEST:   Q.   Mr Quennell, with respect to Project

        22       Water you delivered a brief to junior counsel, did you not,

        23       on about 5 October 2004?

        24       A.   I believe so, yes.

        25

        26       Q.   And we know that junior counsel provided what was

        27       described as draft advice on 13 October 2004?

        28       A.   Yes.

        29

        30       Q.   We also know that further advice was sought from

        31       senior counsel, by instructions, on about 14 October 2004?

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   Why was it that senior counsel's advice was sought,

        35       having had the benefit of junior counsel's draft advice?

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   I thought the witness had been asked

        38       that question and had answered it.

        39

        40       MR PRIEST:   Well, with respect, I'm not so sure that the

        41       position is clear, Mr Commissioner, and I want to make it

        42       clear.

        43

        44       THE WITNESS:   I was advised by Dr Donaghue that it was an

        45       incomplete advice and that the area on which I'd asked him

        46       to advise wasn't his speciality and we should seek

        47       specialist advice.
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         1

         2       MR PRIEST:   Q.   We also know that there was a conference

         3       with Mr Richter on 15 October 2004, at which he delivered

         4       oral advice.

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       Q.   Was junior counsel present during that conference?

         8       A.   Yes.

         9

        10       MR PRIEST:   Thank you.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd?

        13

        14       MR JUDD:   No, thank you.

        15

        16       <EXAMINATION BY MR KENNAN:

        17

        18       MR KENNAN:   Q.   Mr Quennell, I just have a few questions

        19       relating to Mr Hogan.  Can I ask you when you first became

        20       aware of the February 2001 trip report compiled by Mr Hogan

        21       and Mr Borlase?

        22       A.   I don't recall specifically when I first became aware

        23       of that report.  It would have been after I began looking

        24       at the matter in 2003.

        25

        26       Q.   Did you ever provide a copy of that report to

        27       Mr Tracey?

        28       A.   I don't recall, without seeing the brief that was sent

        29       to Mr Tracey and the documents behind that - I don't recall

        30       whether I specifically sent him that or not.

        31

        32       Q.   You didn't discuss with Mr Tracey in conference the

        33       contents of the trip report where it was said by Mr Borlase

        34       and Mr Hogan that they believed the increase in the

        35       trucking fee and the addition of the service charge was a

        36       mechanism of extracting more dollars from the escrow

        37       account?

        38       A.   I don't recall whether we discussed that particular

        39       document at that conference.

        40

        41       Q.   When Mr Tracey sent back an email advice on 8 June

        42       saying that there was a need for further inquiries to

        43       determine all the facts surrounding the payment of a

        44       trucking fee and, in particular, whether any part of it

        45       found its way to the IGB or Iraqi officials, you didn't

        46       take that matter further in relation to the provision of

        47       the trip report to Mr Tracey?
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         1       A.   I don't recall specifically doing that as a result of

         2       reading that email.  As I think I said yesterday, that

         3       email to Mr Tracey merely confirmed the inquiries that were

         4       ongoing insofar as I was concerned.

         5

         6       Q.   When was it that you were told by Mr Cooper that the

         7       AWB had made a decision not to interview Mr Hogan?

         8       A.   It would have been probably shortly after the date of

         9       the memorandum which I prepared regarding my desire to

        10       interview Mr Hogan, so it would have been a week or - well,

        11       I can't remember precisely - shortly after that.

        12

        13       Q.   You didn't press the matter any further after that?

        14       A.   I would have raised it with Mr Cooper, but I didn't

        15       press it in writing, so far as I'm aware.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Barker?

        18

        19       MR BARKER:   I would like to ask some questions.  Could I

        20       firstly raise briefly a matter of privilege?  We contend

        21       that privilege which was waived by AWB in Mr Quennell's

        22       notes of the conversation with Mr Flugge continues to

        23       inhere in Mr Flugge - it has not been waived by him - and

        24       he had a common interest with AWB in the subject matter of

        25       the notes.

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   Not a joint privilege, but a common

        28       interest privilege?

        29

        30       MR BARKER:   A common interest privilege, yes.  I would

        31       like to have the opportunity to put some coherent

        32       submissions in writing without disrupting the proceedings.

        33       It ought to be done before Mr Flugge's evidence.  I

        34       understand that won't be until tomorrow, probably.  Could I

        35       proceed on the understanding that, by asking Mr Quennell

        36       questions, I'm not waiving the privilege.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'm not sure you can.  How would this

        39       work, that a document tendered yesterday in your presence

        40       without objection continues to be subject of a common

        41       interest privilege in the hands of Mr Flugge, although not

        42       in the hands of AWB.  Is that the way it works?

        43

        44       MR BARKER:   I can object to the document being used

        45       against AWB for the purposes of the tender.

        46

        47       THE COMMISSIONER:   It's not used against AWB; it's just
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         1       tendered.

         2

         3       MR BARKER:   We've only had the document for two days.  We

         4       only saw Mr Flugge last night.  We did ask, and have asked

         5       several times, to be given documents of this nature and

         6       we've never been given any, so it would be difficult, I

         7       respectfully submit, to find that Mr Flugge has waived

         8       privilege.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'm not sure.  I think I'd need to have

        11       a factual base, wouldn't I?  Wouldn't I need to know when

        12       it was that Mr Flugge or his representatives first received

        13       the document, whether they had it before or saw it only

        14       when it was tendered here, and matters like that?

        15

        16       MR BARKER:   Well, yes.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, I'll need some evidence about

        19       that.

        20

        21       MR BARKER:   Well, I'm only concerned that we preserve the

        22       right to present this argument.

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, you certainly have the right to

        25       present it.  The question is one of timing.  If you're not

        26       in a position to present it now - I understand why you'd

        27       want to put some sensible suggestions together.

        28

        29       MR BARKER:   If there's a potential problem in

        30       cross-examining Mr Quennell about it --

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think there is.

        33

        34       MR BARKER:   -- I simply ask that that be deferred.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, very well.

        37

        38       MR BARKER:   Thank you, Commissioner.

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:   If it assists, we can indicate that on Monday,

        41       25 September at 12.38pm we forwarded the notes to my

        42       learned friend's instructing solicitors and my learned

        43       friend.

        44

        45       MR PRIEST:   Mr Commissioner, may I rise to mention a

        46       practical problem.  It was hoped to have Mr Quennell

        47       released today, the reason being that he has an appointment
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         1       overseas, a partners' meeting.  The last possible flight he

         2       can catch in order to get to that partners' meeting is at

         3       9.30 tonight.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   Tonight?

         6

         7       MR PRIEST:   Tonight.  He's booked on a flight to Dubai.

         8       It was anticipated that, although of course these

         9       proceedings don't revolve around his convenience, he would

        10       be well and truly finished his evidence and it was thought

        11       in the normal course of events he would have been released.

        12       Not only does he have a partners' meeting overseas, he has

        13       arranged a number of client meetings, so I would ask, with

        14       respect, that the matter be resolved, if at all possible,

        15       today.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think we should do that, Mr Barker.

        18       If you want to take the point, I think you'll have to

        19       either agree with Mr Agius's statement of facts or present

        20       them to me clearly in some fashion.  Indeed you're right, I

        21       don't think I should ask Mr Quennell to defer his meeting.

        22

        23       MR BARKER:   Could we do that later this afternoon?

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Does anybody else wish to examine

        26       Mr Quennell?  Would you mind standing down.  We will get

        27       you on that plane tonight, Mr Quennell.

        28

        29       THE WITNESS:   Thank you, Commissioner.

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   Can we say 2 o'clock for Mr Quennell?

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  You're excused until 2 o'clock,

        34       Mr Quennell

        35

        36       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

        37

        38       MR AGIUS:   I'm in a position to start the next witness,

        39       who is Mr Stott.  I won't finish him in half an hour, but I

        40       certainly can start.  I call Mr Stott.

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is it intended that Ms Peavey will be

        43       recalled?

        44

        45       MR AGIUS:   Yes, we understand that arrangements are in

        46       hand to have Ms Peavey here between 3 and 4 this afternoon,

        47       which is the earliest that we can have her here.  We're



            .28/9/06 (75)              7465     C S C QUENNELL (Mr Kennan)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       being assisted in that regard by my learned friend Mr Judd.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

         4

         5       <CHARLES ERIC STOTT, on former oath:              [12.28pm]

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   You're on your former oath, Mr Stott.

         8       Please sit down.

         9

        10       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

        11

        12       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stott, when you were last before the

        13       inquiry I asked you some questions about what we now know

        14       as the Project Water Summary document, as it's called, that

        15       was signed by yourself, Mr Long and Mr Whitwell.  Since I

        16       asked you those questions we have been permitted access to

        17       that document and it's been tendered as an exhibit.  I just

        18       want to take up one or two matters with you.  It's

        19       exhibit 1321, at AWB.9002.0041.  That is the document we

        20       have as the Project Water Summary, and if we go to the last

        21       page of it, 0047, do you see there your signature?

        22       A.   Yes.

        23

        24       Q.   Is that the summary that you signed, then, on

        25       13 December 2004?

        26       A.   It appears to be, yes.

        27

        28       Q.   When you were last before the inquiry on 30 August, at

        29       page 7176 of the transcript, in the course of some

        30       questioning by myself, the Commissioner said to you:

        31

        32            Q.  The chronology is just a listing of

        33            events.  You are being asked about the

        34            actual events and your knowledge of actual

        35            events, not about any chronology you may

        36            have signed?

        37

        38       You have said:

        39

        40            A.  But the way the question is being put

        41            to me is at the time of signing the

        42            chronology, was I aware of those events -

        43            as to what was documented in the

        44            chronology.  Obviously having read the

        45            chronology, there were parts of the

        46            chronology that I was aware of and there

        47            were parts that I was not aware of until I
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         1            had read the chronology.

         2

         3       At page 7177 the Commissioner asked you this question:

         4

         5            Q.   Mr Stott, don't answer this in case

         6            Mr Judd wishes to object:  do I understand

         7            from your evidence that you signed this

         8            document not knowing whether some aspects

         9            of it were correct or not?

        10

        11       You answered:

        12

        13            A.   Yes.

        14

        15       Then a question from me:

        16

        17            Q.   Why would you do that, Mr Stott?  Why

        18            would you sign --

        19

        20       Your answer was:

        21

        22            A.   I was only asked to sign that part of

        23            the document that I had knowledge of.  I

        24            was not required to attest to all the

        25            aspects of the chronology.  That was for

        26            others who signed the chronology to attest

        27            to.  So I didn't know - have the knowledge

        28            of all aspects of that chronology.

        29            Q.   Did you initial portions that you had

        30            knowledge of?

        31            A.   I wanted to initial the portions that

        32            I had knowledge of.  I was told that I

        33            wasn't able to do that because this is not

        34            a big issue, this was a chronology of the

        35            events, it was prepared by the lawyers, it

        36            was an internal or a legal document that

        37            would be privileged and it was for -

        38            prepared for legal purposes.  So I was - it

        39            was explained to me that I wasn't able to

        40            initial the paragraphs, and that's exactly

        41            what I wanted to do - was to sign off on

        42            those paragraphs I was comfortable with.

        43            Because I had no knowledge of several

        44            aspects of that chronology in that

        45            document.  It was all news - several of

        46            those things were news to me on the day

        47            that I read that chronology.
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         1

         2       And I put to you then that a reader of that document would

         3       not know which part of it you agreed with and which part of

         4       it you didn't.  Your answer was no.  I said:

         5

         6            Q.  You agree with me?

         7

         8       And your answer was "Yes", which gave you some concern.

         9       Have you since then had the opportunity to see the document

        10       which you signed entitled "Project Water Summary"?

        11       A.   Yes.

        12

        13       Q.   Are you able to indicate, if we go through it, which

        14       parts of it you adopted when you signed it; that is, which

        15       parts of it you intended to adopt when you signed it,

        16       accepting what you said on the last occasion, that there

        17       were portions of it of which you had no knowledge?

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       Q.   I just want to give you the opportunity now that you

        21       didn't have when you signed the document the first time.

        22       If we go back to 0041 --

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Stott, just before we leave

        25       that page, above your signature are the words:

        26

        27            To the best of my recollection, and to the

        28            extent of my knowledge, the above summary

        29            is a true synopsis of the events relating

        30            to the Tigris issue.

        31

        32       Do you see those words?

        33       A.   Yes, I see those words, Commissioner.

        34

        35       Q.   If you look at the words above Mr Whitwell's

        36       signature, he was able to indicate which portions he knew

        37       about and which he didn't.  Why were you not similarly able

        38       to?

        39       A.   I was given comfort that that sentence only gave me -

        40       it says "to the extent of my knowledge", and given that we

        41       talked about which paragraphs - that I wanted to initial

        42       the paragraphs that I was comfortable with, I was given

        43       comfort that that was covered by words "to the extent of my

        44       knowledge".

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   I see.

        47
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         1       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I will provide you with a hard copy of

         2       exhibit 1321.  Did you have any say or role in the

         3       preparation of the content of this document?

         4       A.   Well, I think some of the material - some of the

         5       comments in this document may have come from me, Mr Agius,

         6       but --

         7

         8       Q.   What I had in mind was perhaps a different matter.

         9       Were you given drafts of this document to work through and

        10       did you amend drafts so as to get this document in the

        11       shape that it's in?

        12       A.   No, not that I recall.

        13

        14       Q.   But it is apparent from the document that there are

        15       statements that are attributed to you or information that

        16       is attributed directly to you?

        17       A.   Well, it could be.

        18

        19       Q.   Let's work through the document.  When you signed this

        20       document to the best of your recollection and to the extent

        21       of your knowledge as being a true synopsis of the events,

        22       would you go through the document paragraph by paragraph

        23       and indicate, "yes" or "no", whether your signature

        24       accepted that particular paragraph as being true and

        25       correct to the best of your knowledge?  Paragraph 1?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   Paragraph 2?

        29       A.   At that time, yes.

        30

        31       Q.   When you say "at that time", is your view different

        32       now?

        33       A.   Well, I mean, so far as I think that Tom Harley and

        34       Norman Davidson Kelly approached someone else before I got

        35       involved in the discussions.

        36

        37       Q.   I'm sorry, to the extent to which paragraph 2 says

        38       what it does, do you dispute any of the content of it now?

        39       A.   No.

        40

        41       Q.   So you accepted it then and you accept it now?

        42       A.   I accepted that the analysis that had been done by the

        43       lawyers in looking at the documents - that this was an

        44       accurate reflection of what they had discovered in the

        45       documentation.

        46

        47       Q.   Well, that's not what you were being asked.  When you
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         1       signed this document, you weren't asked to do a comparison

         2       between the document and documentation; you were asked

         3       whether or not the document or the contents of it were, to

         4       the best of your recollection and to the extent of your

         5       knowledge, a true summary or synopsis of the events

         6       relating to the Tigris issue.

         7       A.   Based on the representations that were made by the

         8       lawyers who examined the issue.  This was signed --

         9

        10       Q.   What do you mean by that?

        11       A.   Well, this was signed in December 2004 and much of it

        12       was referring back to - or some of it was referring back to

        13       events of 1995, which is some nine years earlier.  I didn't

        14       review those files.  I didn't, when I signed this, have a

        15       clear recollection of the events, because I didn't have

        16       access to the files.

        17

        18       Q.   Well, when you signed the document were you attesting

        19       to the accuracy of paragraph 2, based upon your knowledge

        20       of the events?

        21       A.   Based upon my best recollection in 2004?

        22

        23       Q.   Yes.

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   What about paragraph 3?

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Is that your initial correcting

        29       the spelling of Mr Harley in paragraph 2?

        30       A.   Yes.

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Paragraph 3?

        33       A.   Yes.

        34

        35       Q.   So when you signed the document, you were attesting to

        36       the accuracy of paragraph 3 based upon your knowledge to

        37       the best of your recollection as at the date you signed it?

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   I want to ask you that same question for each of the

        41       other paragraphs.  I won't repeat the question, but if you

        42       would keep that question in mind.  What about paragraph 4?

        43       A.   Paragraph 4 - I don't know whether I would have signed

        44       or initialled that paragraph.  I just don't know the answer

        45       to that, because I believe that - I don't know if that was

        46       factual.

        47
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         1       Q.   Did you draw to anybody's attention that you didn't

         2       know that paragraph 4 was factual?

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   Who did you draw that to the attention of?

         6       A.   To Mr Cooper.

         7

         8       Q.   Specifically in relation to paragraph 4?

         9       A.   Well, yes.

        10

        11       Q.   What did you say to him about it?

        12       A.   Well, I don't recall precisely what I said to him.

        13

        14       Q.   What parts of paragraph 4 did you disagree with?

        15       A.   I just don't - I wasn't sure in December 2004, having

        16       not reviewed any of the material myself, or the files

        17       myself, that that's the way the transaction went ahead and

        18       so I queried whether that is the way the transaction went

        19       ahead or not, and I was assured that that's what the

        20       documentation said.  The documents were skinny, in that

        21       there weren't a lot of documents, and I was given comfort

        22       that the legal review had discovered that that was the way

        23       that the contract went ahead, but I was uncomfortable at

        24       that time, but based on the legal representation that

        25       that's what had occurred, I accepted it.

        26

        27       Q.   What was your recollection as to what had occurred?

        28       A.   I don't think I had a strong recollection in 2004 of

        29       what had occurred back in 1995.  It was nine years earlier.

        30       This relates to one cargo.  I wouldn't have had a strong

        31       recollection of it.  I think I made the comment at the time

        32       that I just - your memory plays tricks on you, you often

        33       have trouble remembering what happened yesterday, a week

        34       ago, a month ago or six months ago, let alone nine years

        35       ago, at this time that I just don't - I didn't have a

        36       strong recollection of those events that occurred nine

        37       years ago.  So I did rely on the work that the legal team

        38       had done to unearth the facts.  So I don't know what I

        39       would have done with that particular paragraph.

        40

        41       Q.   Isn't this, then, a rather circuitous process, that

        42       lawyers were asking you to sign off on a statement of facts

        43       to attest to its accuracy to the best of your knowledge and

        44       you in turn are relying upon the lawyers in signing the

        45       document, relying upon their assessment of the facts and

        46       their assessment of the documents?  Is that the picture you

        47       had in mind at the time?
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         1       A.   Well, I didn't look at the documents.  I didn't review

         2       the files back in 1995.  The legal team - I understood that

         3       was the whole purpose of Project Water, to review the

         4       entire transactions and make sure that it was okay.  And I

         5       relied on lawyers.  I didn't personally review the files.

         6

         7       Q.   What would be the purpose, did you understand, in

         8       having you sign off on this document if all your signature

         9       represented was an acknowledgment that you accepted the

        10       conclusion of the lawyers without actually knowing whether

        11       it was right or wrong?

        12       A.   I don't think I understand your question, Mr Agius,

        13       I'm sorry.

        14

        15       Q.   Well, there wouldn't be any purpose, would there, in

        16       asking you to sign off on this document if all you were

        17       doing in signing off on the document was accepting what was

        18       in the document without knowing whether it was right or

        19       wrong?

        20       A.   It's a proposition that you've put; I don't know the

        21       answer to that proposition, as to what the purpose of the

        22       lawyers wanting me to sign the document was.

        23

        24       Q.   The purpose as it occurred to you?  Did it not occur

        25       to you that there would be no purpose in having you sign

        26       the document if all you were doing was acknowledging your

        27       acceptance of the conclusions that the lawyers had drawn

        28       without yourself knowing whether those conclusions were

        29       right or wrong?

        30       A.   I was satisfied that the representations made by the

        31       lawyers following the review of the transaction were

        32       accurately recorded in this document.

        33

        34       Q.   What would be the purpose --

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   I don't understand that.

        37       A.   Well, I don't - sorry, I'm lost.  I don't understand

        38       the line of questioning.

        39

        40       Q.   You're telling me, are you, that you regarded these

        41       statements in these numbered paragraphs as being

        42       representations by lawyers?

        43       A.   No, I'm saying that there are certain paragraphs that

        44       I agree with in this document.  When we got to paragraph 4,

        45       I was uncomfortable with paragraph 4 because I wasn't

        46       assured that that was --

        47
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         1       Q.   Wasn't assured by whom?

         2       A.   I'm saying I wasn't sure --

         3

         4       Q.   You weren't sure?

         5       A.   -- I didn't say "assured" - sure that that is how I

         6       remember the transaction, but my memory was vague because

         7       these are events of nine years earlier, based in 2004

         8       thinking back to a transaction in 1995.  I did ask whether

         9       that is - this is how it occurred and I was assured that

        10       the documents revealed that this is how it occurred.  I

        11       think I did pass the comment that, "Gee, well, your memory

        12       sometimes plays tricks on you, but I accept that, if that's

        13       how it occurred - I accept that".

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   Q.   What was your memory telling you?  What

        16       was the trick that your memory was playing on you as to

        17       paragraph 4?

        18       A.   I don't recall what my memory was suggesting about it;

        19       I just recall that my memory was suggesting that I wasn't

        20       sure that this is the way it occurred.

        21

        22       Q.   What did you think had occurred?

        23       A.   I don't - I don't know what had occurred because I

        24       hadn't reviewed the documents.

        25

        26       Q.   Did you have any independent knowledge of the material

        27       that's covered in paragraph 4?

        28       A.   Did I have any independent knowledge of the material

        29       covered in paragraph 4?

        30

        31       Q.   Yes.

        32       A.   Well, I would have had independent knowledge back in

        33       1995, but I haven't remembered that in 2004.

        34

        35       Q.   So in 2004 did you have any memory of any of the

        36       material that's covered in paragraph 4?

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   And did that memory differ from what was recorded in

        40       paragraph 4?

        41       A.   Well, I'm not sure if it differed because I can't

        42       recall if that is - when I signed this in 2004, if that was

        43       the basis on which the transaction had proceeded.

        44

        45       Q.   You can't recall what you remembered in 2004, when you

        46       signed this, about the material that's in paragraph 4; is

        47       that what you're saying?
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         1       A.   I can't recall - I said that I was uncertain as to

         2       whether or not the transaction proceeded that way when I

         3       signed this in 2004.

         4

         5       Q.   Did your memory improve, then, between 2004 and the

         6       time when you came to give evidence about these matters

         7       before this inquiry?

         8       A.   Yes.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Stott, when you signed this

        11       document, did you see a volume of documents behind various

        12       tabs?

        13       A.   I think there were documents behind the tabs.

        14

        15       Q.   In relation to paragraph 4, it says "Tab 1"?

        16       A.   Yes.

        17

        18       Q.   Did you read the documents behind tab 1?

        19       A.   I believe I have read the documents behind tab 1.

        20

        21       Q.   You did?

        22       A.   I believe I did.  I can't recall if I did or I did

        23       not, but I believe I did.  I'm not sure that the tabs were

        24       complete, though.  I don't recall if they were complete.  I

        25       don't have a strong recollection of all the tabs.

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Sorry, I'm just not sure what you mean by

        28       that.  Do you mean that you can't now recall whether the

        29       tabs were complete, or do you mean that at the time you had

        30       a doubt as to whether or not the tabs were complete?

        31       A.   No, the former.

        32

        33       Q.   How would you know whether the tabs were complete or

        34       not?

        35       A.   I just don't recall if it was a full set of documents

        36       at all, Mr Agius, in there, in the tabs.

        37

        38       Q.   You don't agree with paragraph 4 as being an accurate

        39       statement now, do you?

        40       A.   No, I agree that paragraph 4 is a statement of how the

        41       transaction was proposed to go ahead but ultimately didn't

        42       go ahead on that basis.  So I think it still looks accurate

        43       as to the way it was proposed to go ahead.

        44

        45       Q.   And so that's how you suggest we should read

        46       paragraph 4 in order for it to be accurate, that that was

        47       what was proposed, not what happened?
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         1       A.   Well, that would be one way of doing it, yes.

         2

         3       Q.   Well, would that be right?

         4       A.   Yes, I think that would be right.

         5

         6       Q.   What about paragraph 5?

         7       A.   The same applies to paragraph 5.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   I can't understand why anyone

        10       would want a summary of things which were intended which

        11       didn't occur?

        12       A.   Sorry, Commissioner, I didn't hear you?

        13

        14       Q.   A summary of things which were intended but did not

        15       occur - I simply don't understand why anyone would want

        16       such a document?

        17       A.   You're now talking about 2006, Commissioner.  This is

        18       in 2004, thinking back to 1995, so your state of knowledge

        19       changes depending on the documents that you have available.

        20

        21       Q.   Mr Stott, this is meant to be a summary, as it says,

        22       of Project Water?

        23       A.   Yes.

        24

        25       Q.   Not a summary of what it was intended a particular

        26       transaction might look like, but what it did look like.

        27       A.   I agree.

        28

        29       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You appreciated, didn't you, that of the

        30       three of you - yourself, Mr Long and Mr Whitwell - you were

        31       the one person of those three who knew anything about what

        32       had happened in 1995 concerning this shipment - you

        33       appreciated that, didn't you?

        34       A.   No, I don't think I would have been the one person.

        35

        36       Q.   Well, who else had any first-hand knowledge of the

        37       shipment dating from '95 and '96 out of yourself, Mr Long

        38       and Mr Whitwell?

        39       A.   Oh, I don't know if Mr Long had knowledge.

        40

        41       Q.   It would be most unlikely that he did, wouldn't it?

        42       A.   Why, he was employed by the company at this time in

        43       this particular area, I thought.

        44

        45       Q.   Surely it occurred to you that AWB were relying upon

        46       your input to verify the accuracy of the statements that

        47       related to the events as they unfolded in '95 and '96
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         1       concerning the shipment.

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   Well, why did you sign the document?

         5       A.   I said to you, Mr Agius, I relied on the lawyers.  I

         6       did query this at the time, but I relied on the lawyers,

         7       that they assured me that this - following the review of

         8       the transaction and the documents, that this is the way the

         9       transaction proceeded.

        10

        11       Q.   Did the lawyers tell you what they were going to use

        12       this document for?

        13       A.   No, not that I recall.  I recall that the document was

        14       a bound document with legal advice that had been received

        15       attached to it, and I understood that this was the final

        16       action of us signing off on this chronology to close the

        17       file.

        18

        19       Q.   You understood, didn't you, that this document had

        20       been used by lawyers to obtain the advice of counsel in

        21       relation to the legality of the Tigris matter?

        22       A.   I'm not sure I understood --

        23

        24       MR LACAVA:   Commissioner, I object to that.  That's

        25       certainly not consistent with the evidence, certainly the

        26       chronological order of the way things were done.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   You're right.  This is dated December.

        29       The substance of it, however, was the basis of advice the

        30       of counsel.

        31

        32       MR LACAVA:   But the question was "You understood this

        33       document was being used" and that's what I object to

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   Well, a document in almost identical form but

        36       without the signatures of the three persons had been

        37       forwarded to counsel and it was upon that document that the

        38       advices were given.

        39

        40       THE WITNESS:   But --

        41

        42       MR LACAVA:   Just a minute, Mr Stott.  If my learned friend

        43       wants to put to the witness whether or not he had knowledge

        44       of the drafts, that's a different issue, but I sat here

        45       yesterday listening to my learned friend attribute

        46       statements to Mr Stott which were not his statements.  I'm

        47       not going to sit here today and allow that to happen.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Lacava, you're entitled to take any

         3       objection you wish.  What's your objection now?

         4

         5       MR LACAVA:   My objection now is that my learned friend is

         6       putting to the witness a question which he knows, and I

         7       think you've already agreed with, Commissioner, is not

         8       consistent with the evidence.  The chronological order of

         9       events --

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   I pointed that out.

        12

        13       MR LACAVA:   Yes.  Now Mr Agius is putting that he's

        14       entitled to ask that question because there were drafts in

        15       existence.  He's not entitled to ask that question until he

        16       formally lays the foundation; namely, that this witness

        17       knew of the drafts.  I understood him earlier to ask the

        18       witness about that and the witness said he did not see the

        19       drafts.

        20

        21       MR AGIUS:   I won't press that, Mr Commissioner.  It

        22       doesn't seem to me that it would assist this inquiry at

        23       all.

        24

        25       Q.   What about paragraph 6, Mr Stott, did you agree with

        26       the accuracy of paragraph 6 --

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'm not sure we've asked about 5, have

        29       we?

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   Well, I think in relation to 5 - I'm sure I'll

        32       be corrected - the answer was that the same situation

        33       pertained as to paragraph 4.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        36

        37       THE WITNESS:   Ditto for 6.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I've moved on to 6 now.

        40       A.   I said "Ditto for 6".  The same applies for number 6.

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   4, 5 and 6?

        43       A.   Yes.

        44

        45       MR AGIUS:   Q.   So your signature then said nothing about

        46       the accuracy of paragraphs 4, 5 and 6, so far as you were

        47       concerned?
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         1       A.   I took these to be accurate in 2004, based on the

         2       representations that the lawyers made to me that this is

         3       what the documents had revealed as the way the transaction

         4       went ahead.

         5

         6       Q.   Beyond that, though, beyond accepting what the lawyers

         7       had said to you that the transactions were about, your

         8       signature added nothing in relation to paragraphs 4, 5 and

         9       6; is that right?

        10       A.   I accepted their advice, yes.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Stott, would you just consider

        13       this answer, please, the answer you just gave to the

        14       question, "So your signature then said nothing about the

        15       accuracy of paragraphs 4, 5 and 6, so far as you were

        16       concerned", which was:

        17

        18            I took these to be accurate in 2004, based

        19            on the representations that the lawyers

        20            made to me that this is what the documents

        21            had revealed as the way the transaction

        22            went ahead.

        23

        24       Did you really mean that?

        25       A.   Yes.

        26

        27       Q.   The lawyers told you that paragraphs 4, 5 and 6

        28       represented the way the transaction went ahead, did they?

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.

        32

        33       MR AGIUS:   Is that a convenient time?

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I'll adjourn until 2 o'clock.

        36

        37       LUNCHEON ADJOURNMENT

        38

        39

        40

        41

        42

        43

        44

        45

        46

        47
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         1       UPON RESUMPTION:

         2

         3       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

         4

         5       MR BARKER:   Commissioner, might I pursue the privilege

         6       claim by handing you some written submissions?

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.  Yes.

         9

        10       MR BARKER:   Commissioner, the question of waiver - the

        11       notes --

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   What is the common interest?

        14

        15       MR BARKER:   The common interest was a common interest in

        16       the subject of the inquiry - Project Rose.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   This is back in 2004?

        19

        20       MR BARKER:   Yes, because it was necessarily involving an

        21       examination of Mr Flugge when he was chairman.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   But what is the interest?  Interest in

        24       what?

        25

        26       MR BARKER:   Interest in the inquiry which was being made

        27       called Project Rose, because it affected him as well as

        28       AWB.  It was the interest in the subject matter which is

        29       the litmus test.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        32

        33       MR BARKER:   These notes were received by my instructing

        34       solicitors in Perth at 10.40am Perth time on Monday.  They

        35       were not able to drop everything and look at them; they

        36       were not able to see Mr Flugge until last night.  In the

        37       meantime, the documents were tendered during Mr Cooper's

        38       evidence on Monday or Tuesday - the 26th, whenever that

        39       was.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   Tuesday.

        42

        43       MR BARKER:   I was not present and nobody was here

        44       representing Mr Flugge.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   Were they tendered Tuesday or

        47       Wednesday?
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         1

         2       MR BARKER:   It is at page 7267.  It was on the 26th.  It

         3       must have been Tuesday.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:  The document you are speaking of,

         6       I think, is notes of an interview with Mr Flugge?

         7

         8       MR BARKER:   Yes.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   I am told that's exhibit 1334, which

        11       was tendered yesterday afternoon.

        12

        13       MR BARKER:   According to the transcript at page 7267,

        14       Mr Agius tendered three pages, being typescript of

        15       Mr Quennell's notes - AWB.0468.0012-0014.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, that's the reference.

        18

        19       MR BARKER:   That was on the 26th.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Let's get this clear.  What exhibit

        22       number was that?

        23

        24       MR BARKER:   1287.  My submission as to the question of

        25       waiver is that there is simply no inconsistency between

        26       maintaining the privilege and anything Mr Flugge or his

        27       advisers have done since receiving the documents.  Perhaps,

        28       ideally, we should have immediately claimed the privilege.

        29       We only got notice on Monday that this hearing was going to

        30       be today involving Mr Flugge, and we've done the best we

        31       could in the circumstances.  Thank you, Commissioner.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Agius?

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   Even before we get to waiver, in my respectful

        36       submission my learned friend has not made out a case of

        37       common interest privilege.  What my friend has identified

        38       is the subject matter in which he alleges there was a

        39       common interest, but he hasn't made out what that common

        40       interest was.  The subject matter was the Project Rose

        41       inquiry, and AWB had an interest in the Project Rose

        42       inquiry, but that interest is not such that it could found

        43       a finding that the interest was in common with Mr Flugge's

        44       interest in that inquiry.

        45

        46            I make that distinction because of what was said by

        47       Justice Tamberlin in Patrick v Capital Finance at 211 ALR
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         1       272 on page 277 at paragraphs 22 and 23.  His Honour said:

         2

         3            In Ampolex Ltd v Perpetual Trustee

         4            Co...Giles CJ said..."What is important is

         5            that...two persons interested in a

         6            particular question will not have a common

         7            interest for the purposes of common

         8            interest privilege if their individual

         9            interests in the question are selfish and

        10            potentially adverse to each other.  In such

        11            a case there will not be the necessary

        12            identity of interest."

        13

        14       In this case, there is no necessary identity of the

        15       interest in Project Rose between Mr Flugge, a retired

        16       chairman of AWB, and in AWB as at the date that Mr Flugge

        17       was interviewed.  That's my first submission.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is there any question of AWB and

        20       Mr Flugge being potentially adverse to each other?

        21

        22       MR AGIUS:   Well, there may well be a potential for AWB

        23       Limited and Mr Flugge to be potentially adverse to each

        24       other.  There is an issue as to whether or not whatever

        25       Mr Flugge did was or was not authorised.  It may be that

        26       their interests are indeed adverse.  It may be that there

        27       is a conflict of interest as between them.

        28

        29            Their interests are the same if AWB is to be entirely

        30       exonerated, but their interests are not the same in the

        31       sense that the exoneration of one necessarily means the

        32       exoneration of the other.

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        35

        36       MR AGIUS:   Beyond that, we would submit that any common

        37       interest privilege or, let me say, any privilege that

        38       Mr Flugge had in the contents of any interview that he had

        39       with AWB's lawyers have been waived by Mr Flugge not at the

        40       time when the documents were tendered through Mr Cooper,

        41       but at the time when Mr Quennell was examined in the

        42       presence of Mr Flugge's counsel where no objection was

        43       taken, when Mr Quennell was examined at page 7421 and

        44       following, which was two days after the material had been

        45       made available to those representing Mr Flugge.

        46

        47            We would add one more submission, and that is that
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         1       common interest privilege is to be distinguished from joint

         2       interest privilege.  Whereas in the case of joint interest

         3       privilege each party who shares in the privilege must join

         4       in the waiver to waive the privilege, that is not the case

         5       with common interest privilege.

         6

         7            ... where it will not always be necessary

         8            for all the interested parties to concur in

         9            the waiving of the privilege in order for

        10            the privilege to be waived.  Fairness may

        11            require that waiver by one of the parties

        12            constitutes waiver by all.  This is to be

        13            determined according to the circumstances

        14            in which the privileged communication took

        15            place and came to be exchanged and provided

        16            to others.

        17

        18       I read there from the judgment of Justice Tamberlin.

        19

        20            It is entirely consistent with Justice Sheller's

        21       judgment in Farrow, which is the case that my learned

        22       friend has provided.  It's our submission that there has

        23       been a waiver by AWB in relation to this material.  This

        24       material only came into existence because, in effect, AWB

        25       commissioned it.  That waiver has been in a certain context

        26       which has been dealt with by Justice Young, and I won't

        27       repeat that, and fairness would demand in this case that

        28       waiver by AWB does constitute a waiver by anybody else who

        29       shares any common interest privilege in the material which

        30       is the subject matter of the common interest.

        31

        32            They are our submissions.  I do have a copy of Patrick

        33       v Capital Finance Corporation if you do not have it,

        34       Mr Commissioner.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   I have it.  Have you seen that,

        37       Mr Barker?

        38

        39       MR BARKER:   Yes, I have, Commissioner.  The common

        40       interest is effectively demonstrated by the fact that they

        41       are both under attack here.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   No-one is under attack here.  I am

        44       conducting an inquiry to determine facts and ultimately

        45       make findings.

        46

        47       MR BARKER:   Yes, I understand that, but it is not putting
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         1       too high a point on it, in my submission, to use those

         2       words.

         3

         4            They had, in Project Rose, a common interest, with

         5       respect.  The fact that Justice Young has held that AWB

         6       waived the privilege cannot be a waiver by Mr Flugge, and

         7       nothing that has been done by him or his advisers,

         8       I submit, can amount to a waiver.

         9

        10            The matter is perhaps succinctly put in the Farrow

        11       case at page 611, where Justice Sheller refers to Network

        12       10 v Capital Television Holdings, the judgment of

        13       Justice Giles:

        14

        15            ...If two parties with a common interest

        16            exchange information and advice relating to

        17            that interest, the documents or copy

        18            documents containing that information will

        19            be privileged from production in the hands

        20            of each; thus, if one of the parties

        21            obtains a letter of advice attracting legal

        22            professional privilege and provides it to

        23            the other, the other can also claim legal

        24            professional privilege.

        25

        26       And so it goes on.  In my submission, the principle clearly

        27       applies here, and the privilege inheres in Mr Flugge.

        28       Thank you.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Application has been made by senior

        31       counsel on behalf of Mr Flugge that a claim for common

        32       interest privilege should be upheld in respect of Mr Flugge

        33       in relation to certain notes of a telephone conversation

        34       between Mr Flugge and Mr Quennell which occurred on

        35       30 April 2004.  The notes are exhibit 1287, which were

        36       tendered on Tuesday, 26 September 2006.

        37

        38            A further copy of the typed notes and the handwritten

        39       notes which the typed notes replicate was tendered as

        40       exhibit 1334 yesterday, on 27 September 2006.  The notes

        41       were in fact provided to the legal advisers to Mr Flugge on

        42       Monday, 25 September 2006.

        43

        44            The notes came about in the following way:  in

        45       about June 2003 AWB commenced an inquiry which became known

        46       as "Project Rose".  The purpose of the inquiry was to

        47       determine, first of all, the factual circumstances which
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         1       related to AWB's trading with Iraq during the Oil-for-Food

         2       Program.  Included in the inquiry was whether or not

         3       payment of certain fees which had been made to Alia, a

         4       transport company in Jordan, and matters associated with

         5       those payments, might have constituted an offence against

         6       Australian law and whether they might have constituted an

         7       infringement of sanctions imposed by the United Nations.

         8

         9            The notes were taken by Mr Quennell, he having been

        10       engaged by AWB to conduct the inquiry.  Mr Quennell

        11       interviewed a considerable number of persons who were

        12       present or prior employees or, in the case of Mr Flugge,

        13       director of AWB, for the purpose of seeking to ascertain

        14       facts upon which he or others might give legal advice to

        15       AWB.  So far as the material before me discloses, the

        16       telephone conversation between Mr Flugge and Mr Quennell

        17       was a voluntary conversation, it having been requested by

        18       Mr Quennell and agreed to by Mr Flugge.  Indeed, Mr Flugge

        19       was provided with certain documents, upon which he was to

        20       be asked to comment, prior to that consultation.

        21

        22            The notes were within the purview of notices issued by

        23       this inquiry to AWB for production.  AWB claimed legal

        24       professional privilege in relation to those notes.  The

        25       notes became document 127 on a list provided to the Federal

        26       Court of Australia in the proceedings to determine the

        27       claim for legal professional privilege.  The claim for

        28       privilege for those notes was in contest in those

        29       proceedings.  Mr Flugge was not a party to those

        30       proceedings.

        31

        32            Mr Justice Young held that, in relation to those

        33       notes, although privilege had been established it had been

        34       waived by AWB.  Accordingly, when the notes were first

        35       tendered on 26 September 2006, in the absence of counsel

        36       for Mr Flugge, no objection was taken to them by AWB.

        37       When a second copy comprising the handwritten notes and the

        38       typed copy of those handwritten notes was tendered on

        39       Wednesday 27 September, no objection was taken either by

        40       AWB or by counsel for Mr Flugge who was, at that time,

        41       present.

        42

        43            The claim is based upon an assertion of common

        44       interest privilege.  The nature of common interest

        45       privilege has been discussed in particular in Farrow

        46       Mortgage Services Pty Limited (In Liq) v Webb and Others

        47       (1996) 39 NSWLR 601.  At page 611 of the judgment of
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         1       Mr Justice Sheller, with which Mr Acting Justice Waddell

         2       agreed, his Honour said:

         3

         4            "...If two parties with a common interest

         5            exchange information and advice relating to

         6            that interest, the documents or copy

         7            documents containing that information will

         8            be privileged from production in the hands

         9            of each; thus, if one of the parties

        10            obtains a letter of advice attracting legal

        11            professional privilege and provides it to

        12            the other, the other can also claim legal

        13            professional privilege.

        14

        15       His Honour went on to say, quoting from Mr Justice Giles in

        16       Network 10 v Capital Television Holdings:

        17

        18            Examples of interest sufficient for common

        19            interest privilege can be seen in the

        20            cases, but the concept is not rigidly

        21            defined and it is a question of fact in

        22            each case.

        23

        24       The first issue which arises is whether or not there is a

        25       common interest sufficient to ground a claim for common

        26       interest privilege between Mr Flugge, on the one hand, and

        27       AWB Limited on the other.

        28

        29            The purpose of AWB seeking to have the inquiry

        30       conducted by Mr Quennell was to establish the factual

        31       situation regarding payment of the inland transportation

        32       fees to Alia in order to determine if AWB or its present or

        33       past employees or directors might have committed any

        34       offence against Australian law or acted in breach of United

        35       Nations sanctions.

        36

        37            In my view, it is arguable that the interests of

        38       Mr Flugge and AWB Limited are in alignment, subject to one

        39       important matter.  Each had an interest in there being

        40       determined whether or not they might, either the company or

        41       Mr Flugge, have engaged in conduct which might constitute a

        42       breach of Australian law or might be an act contrary to

        43       United Nations sanctions.  There is, however, one other

        44       matter to be considered in determining whether or not that

        45       common alignment constitutes a common interest sufficient

        46       for the purpose of the claim for common interest privilege.

        47
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         1            In Ampolex v Perpetual Trustee Limited (1995) 13 NSWLR

         2       Mr Justice Giles said - and this is quoted with approval by

         3       Mr Justice Tamberlin in Patrick v Capital Finance:

         4

         5            What is important is that...two persons

         6            interested in a particular question will

         7            not have a common interest for the purposes

         8            of common interest privilege if their

         9            individual interests in the question are

        10            selfish and potentially adverse to each

        11            other.  In such a case there will not be

        12            the necessary identity of interest.

        13

        14       As I have said, there may be an identity of interest in

        15       relation to a determination whether or not either the

        16       company or Mr Flugge may have acted in a way which might

        17       constitute an offence against Australian law or be an act

        18       contrary to United Nations sanctions.  However, Mr Flugge

        19       and AWB Limited are potentially in conflict.  It would be

        20       open to AWB Limited to seek to argue that, in the event of

        21       it being held that Mr Flugge had engaged in some conduct

        22       which might constitute the basis for a finding that there

        23       had been acts which grounded a finding that there might

        24       have been an offence against Australian law or acts

        25       contrary to United Nations sanctions, those acts were not

        26       the acts of AWB Limited.  It would be a difficult argument,

        27       but, nonetheless, it is one which is open.

        28

        29            In those circumstances, it seems to me that the

        30       interest which Mr Flugge and AWB Limited have is not of a

        31       sufficient identity of interest as to ground the right to

        32       raise a claim for common interest privilege.

        33

        34            A second matter arises.  If, contrary to my view,

        35       there was a sufficient interest to raise the question of a

        36       common interest privilege, as Justice Tamberlin said in

        37       Patrick Capital Finance, it does not necessarily follow

        38       that each must agree to a waiving of the privilege before

        39       the privilege is waived.  His Honour said, having addressed

        40       joint interest privilege, that common interest privilege

        41       was to be contrasted.  His Honour said:

        42

        43            This is to be contrasted with common

        44            interest privilege, where it will not

        45            always be necessary for all of the

        46            interested parties to concur in the waiving

        47            of the privilege in order for the privilege
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         1            to be waived.  Fairness may require that

         2            waiver by one of the parties constitutes

         3            waiver by all.  This is to be determined

         4            according to the circumstances in which the

         5            privileged communication took place and

         6            came to be exchanged and provided to

         7            others.

         8

         9       In this instance, the privileged communication was a

        10       voluntary communication between lawyers for AWB and

        11       Mr Flugge.  There was no exchange other than the exchange

        12       of information.  In the case of a royal commission the

        13       circumstances are different to litigation.  Here there has

        14       been litigation which determined, at least so far as AWB is

        15       concerned - and indeed a declaration has been made by the

        16       Federal Court in proceedings to which I am a party - that

        17       the documents are not privileged because that privilege has

        18       been waived by AWB.  It is true that Mr Flugge was not a

        19       party to those proceedings and in that sense he had no

        20       capacity to mount the claim for privilege he now seeks to

        21       take, but that is a factor which I am entitled, in my view,

        22       to take into account in determining whether the claim

        23       should be upheld.  That involves questions of fairness.

        24

        25            Assuming contrary to my view that the claim should be

        26       upheld, I should treat the claim as having been waived.

        27       I would not treat the claim as having been waived by tender

        28       of the document exhibit 1287, when that tender occurred in

        29       circumstances in which legal advisers for Mr Flugge were

        30       not present.  However, in circumstances where the documents

        31       were made available to the legal advisers for Mr Flugge on

        32       Monday and were tendered in the presence of legal advisers

        33       for a second time on the Wednesday without any objection,

        34       in my view any claim for privilege has been waived.

        35

        36            For those reasons, I am of the view that the

        37       application to maintain a claim for common interest

        38       privilege brought on behalf of Mr Flugge should be

        39       rejected, and I do so.

        40

        41            Mr Barker, conventions require me to give you 24 hours

        42       to go elsewhere if you wish.

        43

        44       MR BARKER:   Can I think about that?  We have a real

        45       problem with Mr Quennell, of course.

        46

        47       THE COMMISSIONER:   I know.  I otherwise would have given
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         1       more full and, no doubt, more intelligent reasons.

         2

         3       MR BARKER:   No, we will proceed, Commissioner.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   I wonder if, for more abundant caution,

         8       Mr Barker's written submission ought to be marked as an

         9       exhibit.

        10

        11       EXHIBIT #1353 SUBMISSIONS OF MR BARKER

        12       BARCODED SUB.0003.0001-0002

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   I understand that Mr Barker has some questions

        15       for Mr Quennell.

        16

        17       MR BARKER:   Yes.

        18

        19       MR ALLEN:   Mr Commissioner, having considered the matter

        20       over lunch, I wonder if I might have leave to ask him a few

        21       questions as well.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:  Certainly.

        24

        25       <CHRISTOPHER STEPHEN CHAMEN QUENNELL, on former oath:

        26       [2.37pm]

        27

        28       <EXAMINATION BY MR BARKER:

        29

        30       MR BARKER:   Q.   Mr Quennell, this morning you were shown

        31       a memorandum from Mr Lindberg to the directors of AWB dated

        32       6 May 2004.  Do you remember seeing that?

        33       A.   Yes.

        34

        35       Q.   Could we have that please; it is AWB.0338.0050.

        36       Mr Lindberg said "Media speculation regarding AWB's

        37       contracts with Iraq under the Oil-for-Food Program is

        38       increasing and is expected to intensify over the coming

        39       months."  That was the situation as you recalled it?

        40       A.   Yes.

        41

        42       Q.   In fact the media speculation had been building up for

        43       some months before May of 2004, had it not?

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   And it was certainly gathering pace during April of

        47       2004?
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         1       A.   I don't specifically recall whether it was gathering

         2       pace, but I was aware that there was media speculation at

         3       that time.

         4

         5       Q.   Resulting in quite a deal of publicity?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   Now, if I may take you to the notes which you made.

         9       I don't know whether we need to bring them up on the

        10       screen, but I am referring to documents AWB.0468.0012, 0013

        11       and 0014, being notes you made after a telephone

        12       conversation with Mr Flugge on 30 April 2004.  The

        13       conversation lasted for how long?

        14       A.   I believe my manuscript notes said 25 minutes.

        15

        16       Q.   What are produced in your notes are very brief notes

        17       on a relatively long telephone conversation; right?

        18       A.   Yes, I think that would be a fair comment.

        19

        20       Q.   They don't record what you said to him?

        21       A.   No, they don't.

        22

        23       Q.   In fact, from time to time during the conversation you

        24       gave him information upon which he commented; would you

        25       agree with that?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   You can't now say what words of yours he was from time

        29       to time responding to during the conversation?

        30       A.   Not in precise terms, no.

        31

        32       Q.   The discussion occurred a little over a year after the

        33       invasion of Iraq?

        34       A.   Yes.

        35

        36       Q.   Mr Flugge had been to Iraq for quite an extended time

        37       and had returned a month before this conversation?

        38       A.   That was my understanding.

        39

        40       Q.   So whatever it was he said to you in that

        41       conversation, he was clearly speaking with knowledge he had

        42       as at 30 April 2004?

        43       A.   I would assume so.

        44

        45       Q.   Some of which came from you during the conversation?

        46       A.   Yes, I would assume so.

        47
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         1       Q.   And you didn't speak further with him or seek a

         2       statement, you have told us?

         3       A.   No.

         4

         5       Q.   May I suggest that was because you felt that what he

         6       had to say was little more than comment and speculation?

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       Q.   And having regard to what he knew - that is, knowledge

        10       acquired up until 30 April 2004?

        11       A.   I believe so.

        12

        13       Q.   And you didn't think a statement would be useful?

        14       A.   I didn't give any thought at that time as to whether a

        15       statement would be useful or not.  At the time I just took

        16       the note.

        17

        18       Q.   Clearly, nothing struck you in what he said that

        19       suggested to you that you ought to get a statement from

        20       him?

        21       A.   No.

        22

        23       MR BARKER:   Thank you, Mr Quennell.

        24

        25       <EXAMINATION BY MR ALLEN:

        26

        27       MR ALLEN:   Q.   Mr Quennell, you were asked earlier today,

        28       and you have just been asked again, about a memorandum

        29       dated 6 May 2004 which purports to be from Andrew Lindberg.

        30       Did your inquiries of the various correspondence that was

        31       exchanged between the parties eventually reveal that that

        32       memorandum was in fact written by and forwarded on,

        33       purportedly on behalf of Mr Lindberg, by Mr Cooper?

        34       A.   I don't have any specific recollection of this

        35       memorandum.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   Are you speaking of the one on the

        38       screen?

        39

        40       MR ALLEN:   Yes, sir.  Just to keep things in context,

        41       Mr Commissioner, for your assistance and that of those

        42       assisting you, if we could bring up on screen

        43       AWB.0416.0032.

        44

        45       Q.   I assume, Mr Quennell, that you haven't seen this

        46       chain of emails previously?  You will see the email in the

        47       centre of the page, the central email, is dated 6 May 2004
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         1       at 20:43 hours, and it is forwarding an attached note,

         2       "I sent to all directors tonight on behalf of Andrew.

         3       Regards Jim", and it is from Jim Cooper addressed to the

         4       people named there; do you see that?

         5       A.   Yes, I do see it.

         6

         7       Q.   If you go to the next page, AWB.0416.0033, you will

         8       see that the attachment referred to is the document you

         9       have already been asked about today, the memorandum

        10       addressed to directors dated 6 May 2004?

        11       A.   Yes, I see that.

        12

        13       MR ALLEN:   Could I tender --

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   You can't, but Mr Agius may.

        16

        17       MR ALLEN:   Could I ask my learned friend Mr Agius to

        18       tender those documents?

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   I am happy to tender it.  My impression was

        21       that it was already an exhibit.

        22

        23       MR ALLEN:  We don't think it is, but if it is --

        24

        25       MR AGIUS:   I will tender it for more abundant caution.

        26       What is one more straw on the back of this camel?  I will

        27       tender those two pages.

        28

        29       EXHIBIT #1354 TWO PAGES OF EMAILS BARCODED

        30       AWB.0416.0032-0033

        31

        32       MR ALLEN:   Q.   As you are aware, that email refers to

        33       factual findings being tabled with AWB management

        34       "tomorrow", which would have been 7 May?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   On 7 May, do you recall having a meeting with

        38       Mr Cooper at which you had a broad-ranging discussion as to

        39       the state of play in relation to Project Rose?

        40       A.   I don't recall having the specific meeting with him on

        41       that date, but I may well have done.

        42

        43       Q.   Could this document be brought up, please,

        44       AWB.9004.0028.  This may or may not refresh your memory.

        45       You will see it is a note from Mr Cooper's day book, as we

        46       understand it, entitled "Project Rose", dated 7/5/04, and

        47       in accordance with Mr Cooper's custom, as we have seen with
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         1       many documents like this, the initials "CQ" and "JC" are in

         2       the box on the left-hand side?

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   That, I suggest to you, would indicate that this was a

         6       meeting between you and Mr Cooper?

         7       A.   Yes, it would indicate either a meeting or a telephone

         8       conversation, but - yes.

         9

        10       Q.   Just look through the document.  You will see the

        11       sorts of topics that are covered in either the meeting or

        12       the telephone conversation on 7 May.

        13       A.   Yes.

        14

        15       Q.   Would you agree that - it may have been premature, as

        16       things have unfolded - it seems to be an attempt to bring

        17       Project Rose to its finalisation within the foreseeable

        18       future as it was then, if you look at the steps that are

        19       envisaged.

        20       A.   I don't know whether it was an attempt to bring it to

        21       finalisation.  This is just Mr Cooper's note.

        22

        23       Q.   It would certainly seem to be a discussion between the

        24       two of you as to the current state of affairs in relation

        25       to Project Rose and what was envisaged for the future?

        26       A.   It appears to indicate some matters which Mr Cooper

        27       was concerned with, but to the extent that we had a

        28       discussion about all these issues on that date, I cannot

        29       recall that.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   It rather suggests the opposite to me,

        32       Mr Allen.  It says "Narrow investigation, broadened to all

        33       staff involved".

        34

        35       MR ALLEN:   I see that.  I am not suggesting it was going

        36       to be wound up in a short time.  I withdraw that particular

        37       aspect, Commissioner.

        38

        39       Q.   It may well be notes of a discussion as to the state

        40       of affairs in relation to Project Rose?

        41       A.   Yes, it could well have been that.

        42

        43       Q.   The memo that we looked at earlier dated 6 May,

        44       addressed to the directors, also spoke about a brief being

        45       provided to the directors, it was said, "next week"; do you

        46       remember that?

        47       A.   Yes.
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         1

         2       Q.   That didn't happen, did it?

         3       A.   No, it did not.

         4

         5       Q.   But on 25 May you and Mr Cooper reported to the

         6       boards, didn't you, by way of a Blake Dawson PowerPoint

         7       presentation?

         8       A.   We gave a PowerPoint presentation, yes.

         9

        10       Q.   That was a report to the board, wasn't it?

        11       A.   It was a report to the state of play, as far as I was

        12       concerned, at that time.

        13

        14       Q.   And of course the PowerPoint presentation was prepared

        15       by your firm?

        16       A.   Yes.

        17

        18       Q.   And it set out what you believed to be an accurate

        19       appraisal of the situation as it then pertained in relation

        20       to Project Rose?

        21       A.   A summary of it, yes.

        22

        23       MR ALLEN:   Thank you.  Thank you, Mr Commissioner.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Do you wish to have Mr Cooper's notes

        26       tendered?

        27

        28       MR ALLEN:   Yes, thank you, sir.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   I will mark AWB.9004.0028 as exhibit

        31       1355.

        32

        33       EXHIBIT #1355 NOTES OF MR COOPER DATED 7/5/2004, BARCODED

        34       AWB.9004.0028

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Does anybody else wish to ask a

        37       question?

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   I have just one matter arising.

        40

        41       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Quennell, my friend Mr Barker asked you

        44       a question, and I just want to clarify one matter with you

        45       concerning it.  He said this:

        46

        47            I don't know whether we need to bring them
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         1            up on the screen, but I am referring to

         2            documents --

         3

         4       And he gave a barcode number --

         5

         6            being notes you made after a telephone

         7            conversation with Mr Flugge on 30 April

         8            2004.  The conversation lasted for how

         9            long?

        10

        11       And your answer was:

        12

        13            I believe my manuscript notes said

        14            25 minutes.

        15

        16       Your answer didn't adopt all that was in his question,

        17       which is why I am asking you this.  When did you make your

        18       handwritten notes of your conversation with Mr Flugge,

        19       after the conversation had finished or during the course of

        20       the conversation?

        21       A.   During the course of the conversation.

        22

        23       MR AGIUS:   Thank you.  That's the only matter arising.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.  Thank you, Mr Quennell.

        26       You are free to go.

        27

        28       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

        29

        30       MR AGIUS:   I take it Ms Peavey is not here yet.  Might we

        31       return to Mr Stott, Mr Commissioner?

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        34

        35       <CHARLES ERIC STOTT, on former oath:         [2.52pm]

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   You are on your former oath, Mr Stott,

        38       thank you.

        39

        40       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

        41

        42       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stott, we understand that you were

        43       interviewed by Mr Quennell and that he took notes of his

        44       interview with you.  Could we bring up, please, the

        45       typescript of those notes, AWB.0468.0005.  Have you had an

        46       opportunity to see the typescript of Mr Quennell's notes?

        47       A.   I saw these this morning.
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         1

         2       Q.   So have you had an opportunity to read through them?

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   Did you tell Mr Quennell, concerning the trucking

         6       arrangement, that AWB paid the trucking fees to Ronly and

         7       that Ronly paid the trucking fees to Iraq?

         8       A.   I think that's unlikely.

         9

        10       Q.   Why do you say that?

        11       A.   Because I understood that AWB was paying the trucking

        12       fees to Ronly and Ronly were paying it to Alia.

        13

        14       Q.   Did you understand that Ronly was paying it to Alia so

        15       that Alia could channel the fees to Iraq?

        16       A.   No.

        17

        18       Q.   You may not be able to answer this, but can you offer

        19       any explanation as to why Mr Quennell's note is "AWB [arrow

        20       pointing towards] Ronly [arrow pointing towards] to Iraq"?

        21       A.   No.

        22

        23       Q.   Did you tell Mr Quennell words to the effect that you

        24       needed a paper trail and approval of the trucking fee from

        25       the government?

        26       A.   This is in the notes, is it?

        27

        28       Q.   Yes, I am sorry.  Can we go to the next page, 0006.

        29       You will see his notes - if we just wait for them to come

        30       up - are:

        31

        32            Gaps as to amounts being paid.

        33            I went to Iraq - went to Iraqis - checked

        34            trucking fee terms.

        35            I needed paper trail & approval from the

        36            gov't.

        37

        38       Did you say words to that effect to Mr Quennell?

        39       A.   No, I don't recall them.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.  Sorry?

        42       A.   I don't recall saying words to that effect, what is

        43       said there.

        44

        45       MR AGIUS:   Q.   When you say you don't recall, are you

        46       saying that you have no memory one way or the other, or are

        47       you saying that, to the best of your recollection, you
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         1       didn't say that?

         2       A.   I am saying the former.

         3

         4       Q.   You don't recall one way or the other?

         5       A.   Correct.

         6

         7       Q.   Did you tell Mr Quennell that you didn't know whether

         8       Alia was a front for the government?

         9       A.   No, I don't recall that.

        10

        11       Q.   You don't recall one way or the other?

        12       A.   Correct.

        13

        14       Q.   Did you say to him words to the effect that Jordan

        15       was, and I quote, "an extension of Iraq"?

        16       A.   No, I don't recall that.

        17

        18       Q.   Did you say anything about Jordan and its relationship

        19       with Iraq?

        20       A.   I may have.  I just don't recall what we talked about.

        21

        22       Q.   Did you understand that in some sense Jordan was an

        23       extension of Iraq?

        24       A.   I have provided previous evidence about the important

        25       role that Jordan played as an umbilical chord to get

        26       supplies into Iraq throughout the Iran/Iraq war.  So

        27       Jordan - Iraq didn't have any allies in the Middle East and

        28       Jordan was one of those countries that was prepared to

        29       assist them.

        30

        31       Q.   Did you say words to the effect to Mr Quennell that

        32       the only negotiations that you had with Alia transport were

        33       to do with the availability of trucks, in the sense of how

        34       to incentivise Alia to ensure availability of trucks for

        35       AWB's vessels?

        36       A.   No, I don't recall.

        37

        38       Q.   Again, you have no recollection one way or the other?

        39       A.   No, because - no.

        40

        41       Q.   Would that have been a true statement, to the best of

        42       your knowledge at that time - this would be about April of

        43       2004?

        44       A.   Can I answer that to the best of my knowledge today?

        45

        46       Q.   Yes.

        47       A.   No, because I didn't enter into negotiations with
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         1       Alia.  I have provided previous evidence to the

         2       Commissioner on that.

         3

         4       Q.   Can you offer - and you may not be able to - any

         5       explanation as to how it came about that Mr Quennell has

         6       recorded in his notes the words:

         7

         8            Only negotiations with Alia transport were

         9            to do with availability of trucks - how to

        10            incentivise Alia to ensure availability of

        11            trucks for AWB's vessels.

        12

        13       A.   No.

        14

        15       Q.   Do you deny that you said words to that effect to him?

        16       A.   No.

        17

        18       Q.   Did you tell Mr Quennell that Trevor Flugge's daughter

        19       had been employed by Ronly for a period?

        20       A.   I may have.

        21

        22       Q.   That was something which you knew, was it not?

        23       A.   Yes.

        24

        25       Q.   Did you tell Mr Quennell that the "noise" was that

        26       Trevor Flugge had personally approved the trucking

        27       arrangements?

        28       A.   I don't recall saying that, but I have, again,

        29       Mr Agius, in my first witness statement provided the

        30       Commission with evidence on that particular point.

        31

        32       Q.   I am asking you whether you said these words, or words

        33       to this effect, to Mr Quennell?

        34       A.   No, I don't recall saying words to that effect.

        35

        36       Q.   You might have but you just can't recall one way or

        37       the other?

        38       A.   Correct.

        39

        40       Q.   Did you say words to the effect:

        41

        42            Emons and Watson used Trevor Flugge as

        43            "cover".

        44

        45       That's "cover" being a quoted word from you?

        46       A.   I may have, Mr Agius.  I don't recall saying that.

        47
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         1       Q.   Did you have a view to that effect in April or May of

         2       2004?

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   Mr Quennell's notes would tend to suggest that you

         6       used the word "cover" in the context in which I have read

         7       it to you.  Was that the view that you had - that Emons and

         8       Watson used Mr Flugge as cover?

         9       A.   I don't recall if that's the view I had.

        10

        11       Q.   Did you tell Mr Quennell that at some time the

        12       trucking fee became a matter of concern for you?

        13       A.   I may have.

        14

        15       Q.   Did you tell Mr Quennell that you had initially

        16       thought that the 10 per cent was going to Messrs Emons and

        17       Watson?

        18       A.   No, I don't recall saying that.

        19

        20       Q.   You might have said it but you can't recall one way or

        21       the other?

        22       A.   Yes.

        23

        24       Q.   We understand that you were interviewed by officers or

        25       employees of MinterEllison.  Do you recall being

        26       interviewed on or about 12 September 2004?

        27       A.   No, I don't.

        28

        29       Q.   Do you recall going to an office or being interviewed

        30       by a number of solicitors and being asked questions with a

        31       view to a statement being taken from you?

        32       A.   No, I don't recall that - being in that time.  I have

        33       had statements taken from me by Arnold Bloch Leibler, I

        34       have had statements prepared by my own counsel, but I don't

        35       recall.

        36

        37       Q.   I am speaking of September 2004.

        38       A.   No, I don't recall that.

        39

        40       Q.   Could we bring up, please, exhibit 1337 -

        41       AWB.9001.0212.  This is a document produced in answer to a

        42       notice after a claim for privilege has been denied.  It is

        43       said to be a draft witness statement of yourself, prepared

        44       at the offices of MinterEllison.  Mr Quennell has said that

        45       he was present when you were, in effect, interviewed in his

        46       presence, and he nominated the solicitors from

        47       MinterEllison and himself as being present at the time, and
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         1       the substance of his evidence was - and I am speaking

         2       generally - that this was the product of that interview; it

         3       was a draft statement prepared after such an interview.  It

         4       is dated 12 September 2004.  Have you seen this document

         5       recently?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   Have you had an opportunity to read it?

         9       A.   Yes.

        10

        11       Q.   Does that assist your recollection, that at some time

        12       you were interviewed by solicitors from MinterEllison?

        13       A.   No.

        14

        15       Q.   You can't recall an occasion in September 2004 when

        16       you were interviewed and asked a number of questions with a

        17       view to a statement being taken from you?

        18       A.   No.

        19

        20       Q.   Even though you have read the statement in the form in

        21       which you see it on the screen?

        22       A.   Yes.

        23

        24       Q.   When you read that statement, did it occur to you that

        25       this was information that you had provided to Messrs

        26       MinterEllison?

        27       A.   No.

        28

        29       Q.   Do you recall being interviewed during the course of

        30       the investigation that was conducted by solicitors on

        31       behalf of AWB concerning Project Rose?

        32       A.   I recall talking to solicitors at various times.

        33       I don't recall it being an interview, but I don't - I have

        34       no recollection of doing this.

        35

        36       Q.   I don't want to lose the thread of this in semantics.

        37       When you say "talking to solicitors", do you include within

        38       that them asking you questions and you providing answers?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   You wouldn't call that an interview?

        42       A.   No, I didn't call that an interview.

        43

        44       Q.   Did you have a talk session with solicitors from

        45       MinterEllison, then, on the subject matter which is

        46       contained in the statement?

        47       A.   No, I don't recall that, Mr Agius.
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         1

         2       Q.   Did you ever tell anybody that you had been informed

         3       by the representatives of IGB that it had not been paid out

         4       $2 out of the $12 per metric tonne charge for inland

         5       transport fees?

         6       A.   No, I don't recall that.

         7

         8       Q.   Does that mean you might have but you can't remember?

         9       A.   That's what it means, yes.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Stott, this is an

        12       11-page statement containing a very large amount of

        13       information.  Can you give me any explanation as to how

        14       this could come about if you did not partake in an

        15       interview so that it could be prepared?

        16       A.   I'm not going to speculate on that, Commissioner.  I

        17       can't - I understand this is a draft statement.  It is not

        18       signed by me.  There are notations in this document.  The

        19       first time I can recall having seen this document is when

        20       it was sent to me by my counsel, I think last Thursday, by

        21       email.  I was not aware that this document existed, to the

        22       best of my knowledge and recollection.

        23

        24       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Can we bring up page 0215.  Do you see

        25       some handwritten corrections on that page?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   Do you know who made them?

        29       A.   Is this the same document we looked at a minute ago?

        30

        31       Q.   This is the fourth page of that document.

        32       A.   No.

        33

        34       Q.   Is it your handwriting?

        35       A.   No, it doesn't appear to be my handwriting.

        36

        37       Q.   I am sorry?

        38       A.   It doesn't appear to be my handwriting, no.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Perhaps we will get the word "trail"

        41       blown up a little bit.

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Do you see the word "trial" has been

        44       corrected to the word "trail"?

        45       A.   No, that doesn't appear to be my handwriting.

        46

        47       Q.   But you can see that?
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   And "Ronlay" has been corrected so that the "a" has

         4       been struck out.  You didn't make those corrections?

         5       A.   I don't believe I made those corrections.

         6

         7       Q.   At paragraph 6.7 the following is recorded:

         8

         9            The Iraq business is a very clean business

        10            within AWB.

        11

        12       Did you say words to that effect during the course of any

        13       talks that you had with solicitors --

        14       A.   I don't recall.

        15

        16       Q.   -- acting on behalf of AWB?

        17       A.   No, I don't recall making that statement.

        18

        19       Q.   The paragraph continues:

        20

        21            Upon my return to AWB I was surprised and

        22            wondered why Ronly was involved in the

        23            payment of the inland transport fees.

        24

        25       Did you say words to that effect to any solicitors acting

        26       on behalf of AWB?

        27       A.   I just don't recall this statement.  I don't recall

        28       saying that, Mr Agius.

        29

        30       Q.   You don't recall saying that.  But would it have been

        31       true, if you had said that?

        32       A.   Well, I think I have provided in previous evidence --

        33

        34       Q.   Just answer my question, Mr Stott.  Would it have been

        35       true if you had said that?

        36       A.   I think it would be unlikely for me to say it in those

        37       words, but --

        38

        39       Q.   Would you have said words to that substance?

        40       A.   I may have.  I don't recall.

        41

        42       Q.

        43

        44            I had concerns about the payment of the

        45            inland transport fees but when

        46            I subsequently went to Baghdad shortly

        47            after my return to AWB...and had a meeting
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         1            with the IGB, I discussed the trucking fees

         2            with them.

         3

         4       Might you have said words to that substance or to that

         5       effect to the solicitors acting on behalf of AWB?

         6       A.   I don't recall saying that, Mr Agius.

         7

         8       Q.   If you had said that, would it have been true?

         9       A.   I don't know.  It's not words - it is not the way

        10       I would say that, Mr Agius.

        11

        12       Q.   I am not asking you about the word-perfect nature of

        13       it; I am asking you about the substance of it, the

        14       substance and effect.

        15       A.   Sorry, I just don't recall saying that, Mr Agius.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Stott, I have before me what

        18       appears to be a draft statement not signed by you.  I have

        19       been told in evidence that it was prepared by Messrs

        20       MinterEllison and it records:

        21

        22            I had a meeting with the IGB.  I discussed

        23            the trucking fees with them.

        24

        25       I also have before me a separate note from Mr Quennell of

        26       what he says is a conversation with you, which he made at

        27       the time.  The note reads:

        28

        29            I went to Iraq - went to the Iraqis -

        30            checked trucking fee terms.

        31

        32       Those two pieces of information, apparently given to two

        33       different people, have remarkable similarity.  Did you go

        34       to Iraq shortly after your return to AWB?

        35       A.   I went in October.

        36

        37       Q.   Did you have a meeting with the IGB?

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   Did you discuss with them trucking fees?

        41       A.   Yes, I believe that was one of the topics of

        42       discussion.

        43

        44       Q.   Is it correct to say you checked the trucking fee

        45       terms?

        46       A.   I don't - no, I don't think that's correct.

        47
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         1       Q.   What was the discussion you had with them in relation

         2       to trucking fees?

         3       A.   I think that's been - I don't recall the discussion in

         4       relation to trucking fees, Commissioner, on what was

         5       precisely said.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Were you told in substance that all

         8       contractors were paying trucking fees, during the course of

         9       meeting with the IGB?

        10       A.   Whether that was with the IGB, or - I believed that

        11       all contractors were paying trucking fees.

        12

        13       Q.   Did you have this subsequently confirmed by a Thai

        14       rice importer who you knew was importing rice into Iraq,

        15       and were you reassured that all companies were now

        16       responsible for and paying similar charges for inland

        17       transport services?

        18       A.   Yes, I did talk to a Thai rice exporter.

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   About what?

        21       A.   About whether or not they were also paying trucking

        22       fees.

        23

        24       Q.   Why did you have that conversation?

        25       A.   To check that they were paying - that others were also

        26       paying trucking fees.

        27

        28       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Why did you want to check that?

        29       A.   To make sure that what I was being told was accurate.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Why did it matter if somebody else

        32       was paying trucking fees?

        33       A.   It was my own due diligence on making sure that others

        34       were also paying for it.  I had just joined the company

        35       in June/July 2000, so this was part of my first trip.  Iraq

        36       was one of the markets that I was responsible for.  I was

        37       global head of International Sales and Marketing.

        38       Predominantly my major focus was actually on Asia, but

        39       I did go to Iraq and I do recall talking to Thai exporters

        40       to make sure that they were also paying trucking fees.

        41

        42       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Were you also keen to ensure that a paper

        43       trail and approval from the Australian Government existed?

        44       A.   I don't think I would have chosen those words,

        45       Mr Agius, but I was always keen to know that it was

        46       approved.

        47
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         1       Q.   And that you had a paper trail?

         2       A.   I don't recall saying that, Mr Agius.

         3

         4       Q.   You might have said it but you can't remember, is that

         5       what you mean by "I don't recall"?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   Did you understand that the reasons for the

         9       introduction of the trucking fee were that there was a need

        10       to ship goods from the port around the country, and a need

        11       for foreign currency to pay for that service?

        12       A.   That's what I understood, yes.

        13

        14       Q.   Did you understand that the only way to do this was to

        15       include fees for inland transport as part of the total

        16       contract price?

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       Q.   And that hard currency would be paid to the transport

        20       company from the funds released through the UN-approved

        21       process to pay for the total contract price?

        22       A.   That's what I understood the process to be, yes.

        23

        24       Q.   Were you also informed by representatives of the IGB

        25       that the IGB had not been paid its $2 out of the $12 per

        26       metric tonne charged for the inland transport fees?

        27       A.   I don't recall if it was $2.  It may have been $2,

        28       I just don't recall.  But when we did go to Iraq in October

        29       there was a question about how much Alia had received and

        30       money was outstanding due to Alia that had not been paid,

        31       that we followed up after the trip.

        32

        33       Q.   And were you informed that the IGB had not been paid

        34       its $2 out of the $12 per metric tonne that had been

        35       charged for inland transport?

        36       A.   No, I don't believe I would have been informed of

        37       that.

        38

        39       Q.   Were you informed that the IGB had not been paid some

        40       sum out of the trucking fees?

        41       A.   I believed I was informed that Alia had not been paid

        42       by the IGB.  I was informed by the IGB that Alia had not

        43       been paid.

        44

        45       Q.   By whom?

        46       A.   By us - AWB.

        47
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         1       Q.   Were you informed that the IGB had not been paid by

         2       Alia in respect of any amount of money?

         3       A.   No, I don't believe I was informed that.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   Could we go back, please, to

         6       paragraph 6.5 on the preceding page.

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Did you have an understanding that the

         9       difficulty Iraq faced was that it could not get access to

        10       foreign resources whilst sanctions were imposed?

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Would you read those two lines and

        13       then we will go over to the next page, Mr Stott.

        14       A.   The next page, please.  I have read that.

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Did you have the understanding expressed

        17       in paragraph 6.5?

        18       A.   I knew that Iraq needed foreign exchange to pay for

        19       its transport costs.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   The paragraph goes on:

        22

        23            Most of the cost was borne by Iraq's

        24            neighbours and it had to be paid in hard

        25            currency and the only way it could get this

        26            was through UN agency.

        27

        28       Was that your understanding?

        29       A.   No, that's - I don't recall that.  It was my

        30       understanding that --

        31

        32       Q.   How else was Iraq to get the hard currency you say it

        33       needed?

        34       A.   To pay the transport costs --

        35

        36       Q.   Yes.

        37       A.   -- as it was contracted on a CIF basis delivered all

        38       governates to Iraq.  Iraq contracted with Alia and we were

        39       required to pay Alia, the trucking company in Jordan, for

        40       those services.  That's how I understood it to occur.

        41

        42       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Did you have discussions with Alia in

        43       Jordan?

        44       A.   I believe I have had discussions at some stage with

        45       Alia.  I can't recall when.  I've had an association with

        46       the trucking companies over 20 years, and I don't recall

        47       when I had a discussion with Alia.
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         1

         2       Q.   Did you have a discussion with Alia in Jordan in the

         3       course of your trip to Baghdad to talk with the IGB?

         4       A.   No, I don't believe I did.

         5

         6       Q.   Were you of the view in September 2004 that there were

         7       no other companies in Jordan that could handle the volume

         8       of wheat that AWB had to truck to Iraq during the

         9       Oil-for-Food Program?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   Did you have negotiations with Alia concerning the

        13       availability of trucks?

        14       A.   No.

        15

        16       Q.   Did you want to incentivise Alia to ensure

        17       availability of trucks for AWB's vessels?

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   But you didn't talk to them?

        21       A.   No.

        22

        23       MR AGIUS:   Q.   It is true, is it, that when you returned

        24       from your trip to Iraq you conducted an audit concerning

        25       the involvement of Ronly?

        26       A.   No, I don't think I conducted an audit.  I wouldn't

        27       describe it as an audit.

        28

        29       Q.   What did you do?

        30       A.   Well, you know what I did.  I terminated the Ronly

        31       agreement.

        32

        33       Q.   Well, did you conduct inquiries and find out that

        34       Ronly was being used as a conduit for the payment of these

        35       so-called trucking fees?

        36       A.   Yes, I knew that.

        37

        38       Q.   And were you of the view that Ronly had wanted to end

        39       the arrangement in any event?

        40       A.   No, I don't think I was of that view.

        41

        42       Q.   Did you ask about authorisation for payments of the

        43       trucking fee at AWB?

        44       A.   No - well, yes.

        45

        46       Q.   Did you ask whether the UN was aware that AWB was

        47       paying trucking fees?
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         1       A.   I was told that the trucking fees were UN approved.

         2

         3       Q.   Did you ask whether the UN was aware that AWB was

         4       paying trucking fees?

         5       A.   I may have asked, Mr Agius:  I may have asked.

         6

         7       Q.   Why would you have asked that question?

         8       A.   Sorry?

         9

        10       Q.   Why would you have asked that question?  What would

        11       have given you cause to have any doubt about whether or not

        12       the UN was aware that the trucking fees were being paid by

        13       AWB?

        14       A.   I haven't said I did ask that question:  I said I may

        15       have asked that question.

        16

        17       Q.   And I am asking you why would you have asked that

        18       question?  You say you may have; I am asking why would you

        19       have?

        20       A.   To ensure that the trucking fee arrangement was

        21       approved.

        22

        23       Q.   Did you ask whether or not any of the other components

        24       of the sale price for wheat had been approved by the UN?

        25       A.   No.

        26

        27       Q.   Why might you have singled out the trucking fee?

        28       A.   Because it was new to me when I came back in June

        29       or July 2000.  The old contracts were on the basis of CIF

        30       Umm Qasr or Aqaba, whichever was the discharge port.  So

        31       the new arrangements between the AWB and the IGB were the

        32       inclusion of the term CIF delivered all governates Iraq,

        33       which included the payment of the trucking fee, which

        34       I understood, and was told by my colleagues at the AWB, was

        35       all approved by the UN.

        36

        37       Q.   Did you tell solicitors on behalf of AWB that you had

        38       "talked to a representative from DFAT about the potential

        39       problems at Umm Qasr and speeding up discharge and what I

        40       needed to do concerning the payment of the inland transport

        41       fees and ensuring that these arrangements were acceptable"?

        42       A.   Which paragraph are you reading from?

        43

        44       Q.   I am sorry, I have gone over the page.  It is

        45       paragraph 7.3.

        46       A.   No, I don't recall saying that, Mr Agius.

        47
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         1       Q.   Have you read paragraph 7.3?

         2       A.   Not entirely, no.

         3

         4       Q.   I wonder if you would.

         5       A.   I've read it.

         6

         7       Q.   Is there any portion of it with which you disagree?

         8       A.   Yes.

         9

        10       Q.   What is the first portion of it with which you

        11       disagree?

        12       A.   The second line, "and what I needed to do to

        13       concerning the payment of the inland transport fees and

        14       ensuring that these arrangements were acceptable."  I don't

        15       recall saying that.

        16

        17       Q.   You don't recall saying that to who?

        18       A.   Anyone.

        19

        20       Q.   Whether you said it to anybody or not, was it true?

        21       Did you talk to a representative from DFAT about the

        22       potential problems at Umm Qasr and speeding up discharge

        23       and what you needed to do concerning the payment of inland

        24       transport fees and ensuring that these arrangements were

        25       acceptable?

        26       A.   I believe I spoke to people at DFAT about the

        27       potential problems at Umm Qasr and speeding up discharge,

        28       full stop.  I do not believe that I spoke to people at DFAT

        29       about the balance of that sentence.

        30

        31       Q.   Was it your paramount concern to maintain the trade

        32       relationship with AWB's apolitical stance in Iraq?

        33       A.   I don't know that it was my paramount concern, but

        34       I was certainly always keen to maintain an apolitical

        35       stance in Iraq.

        36

        37       Q.   Were you under the impression that DFAT knew about the

        38       arrangements, though it may not have been specifically

        39       informed by AWB about them?

        40       A.   No, I don't believe that's right.  I was under the

        41       impression that DFAT knew about the arrangements, but

        42       I don't believe that I was under the impression that AWB -

        43       as it says, "though it may not have been specifically

        44       informed by AWB about them previously".  I was told that

        45       this was UN approved and the approval process went through

        46       DFAT.  It had to go through DFAT before it went to the UN.

        47
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         1       Q.   Did you take it as read that the existing trucking

         2       arrangements were okay?  Could we go over the page, please?

         3       A.   Where are you reading from, Mr Agius?

         4

         5       Q.   Paragraph 7.4.  Did you take it as read that the

         6       existing trucking arrangements were okay - that is, okay

         7       with DFAT?

         8       A.   Well, at that time I accepted what I was being told,

         9       that the trucking arrangements were okay.

        10

        11       Q.   And was your purpose in raising the issue with DFAT

        12       that you wanted to have a paper trail?

        13       A.   Well, I wanted written confirmation from DFAT around

        14       the incentive arrangements which we were proposing to enter

        15       into with Alia to ensure that there were enough trucks at

        16       discharge port.

        17

        18       Q.   Was it the case that you wanted to have a paper trail

        19       to ensure that the trucking arrangements had been approved?

        20       A.   No, I don't believe that was the case.

        21

        22       Q.   Did you talk quite openly about your concern about the

        23       lack of a paper trail confirming the regularity of trucking

        24       arrangements within AWB?

        25       A.   No, I don't think that's - I don't recall doing that,

        26       Mr Agius.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Stott, again, I will raise the

        29       same thing with you:  we have the draft statement which

        30       talks about a desire or need for a paper trail; we have the

        31       notes of Mr Quennell which said "I need paper trail and

        32       approval from the government."

        33       A.   In respect to Alia incentive arrangement - to enter

        34       into discussions with Alia regarding incentive arrangements

        35       to get more trucks down at Umm Qasr.  That is the context

        36       of what I wanted in writing from DFAT.

        37

        38       Q.   What about the paper trail?

        39       A.   Well, I may have said that in that context.

        40

        41       Q.   To each of these two solicitors - one from

        42       MinterEllison and Mr Quennell?

        43       A.   I don't recall discussions with MinterEllison on this.

        44

        45       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Was it correct to say that you did not

        46       want to open up a "Pandora's Box" in your discussions with

        47       DFAT?
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         1       A.   I don't recall saying that, Mr Agius.

         2

         3       Q.   You might have said it but you can't remember; is that

         4       what you mean?

         5       A.   Well, I would prefer to say that it is extremely

         6       unlikely that I didn't say it, but I will defer to your

         7       words.

         8

         9       Q.   I don't want you to defer to my words unless you

        10       accept them, Mr Stott.

        11       A.   I accept your words, then.

        12

        13       Q.   Were you of the view that the noise at the time - that

        14       is, "at the time", being the time of your approach to DFAT:

        15

        16            ...was that Trevor Flugge, who was a

        17            "hands-on" Chairman, had personally

        18            approved the inland transport arrangement.

        19

        20       A.   I was aware that people within the company said that

        21       the transport arrangements had been approved by the

        22       chairman of the board.

        23

        24       Q.   Mr Flugge?

        25       A.   He was the chairman, yes.

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Who told you that?

        28       A.   That was Mr Hughes.  I have also had confirmation from

        29       Mr Hogan and they were the primary characters, people.

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Had you heard that from Mr Emons?

        32       A.   I have never had a conversation with Mr Emons about

        33       this since I joined the company.  I've not seen him.  I may

        34       have seen him in the street on occasion, but I don't - I

        35       have had no conversations with him.

        36

        37       Q.   Did you think at the time that there was a question

        38       mark over Michael Watson?

        39       A.   Well, when we instigated the Arthur Andersen piece of

        40       work, which was about investigating the probity of

        41       particular people within International Sales and Marketing

        42       group, in that process Michael Watson was looked at.  So

        43       there was, in my mind, a question mark over him at that

        44       time.

        45

        46       Q.   Was it true to say that your letter to DFAT was the

        47       result of a number of drafts that were passed between
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         1       yourself and Mr Hogan for his comments?

         2       A.   No, I don't recall saying that.

         3

         4       Q.   Was it true to say that you did not discuss the drafts

         5       of your letters with DFAT?

         6       A.   No, I wouldn't say that.

         7

         8       Q.   Was it true to say that in your telephone conversation

         9       with DFAT you were asked to send a letter, which you

        10       subsequently did?

        11       A.   Well, I think that's possible, yes.

        12

        13       Q.   Was it true that you had received a response from DFAT

        14       that they had examined your proposed course of action as

        15       set out in your letter to address the shortage of trucks at

        16       discharge point, which you had identified as the source of

        17       a problem of delays with discharge at Umm Qasr?

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       Q.   And that they had advised that they could see no

        21       reason, from an international legal perspective, that AWB

        22       should not proceed with your proposal?

        23       A.   Yes.

        24

        25       Q.   We see nothing in this draft statement about any

        26       conversation that you have said in this inquiry that you

        27       had with someone at DFAT after their receipt of your letter

        28       and after your receipt of their response.

        29       A.   Would you repeat that, Mr Agius?

        30

        31       Q.   We see nothing in this draft statement about any

        32       conversation that you have said in this inquiry that you

        33       had with someone at DFAT after their receipt of your letter

        34       and after your receipt of their response?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   Might that have been a matter that you just didn't

        38       tell solicitors from AWB about?

        39       A.   It may have been.

        40

        41       Q.   What, because you had forgotten about it?

        42       A.   Well, I haven't recalled it at the time.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Agius, I understand Ms Peavey is

        45       present.  I don't know whether you want to finish Mr Stott

        46       and then take a break or how long you will be with

        47       Mr Stott, or whether you want to interpose Ms Peavey.
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         1

         2       MR AGIUS:   I believe I could finish Mr Stott by about

         3       4 o'clock.  I don't have that much more to put to Mr Stott

         4       to get his evidence on.  I am content to stop now and take

         5       Ms Peavey, or just continue on with Mr Stott.

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, I am in your hands.

         8

         9       Q.   Mr Stott, there is one question I would like to ask

        10       you:  in the notes made by Mr Quennell - AWB.0468.0006 -

        11       according to Mr Quennell's notes of his discussion with

        12       you, do you see the last two lines:

        13

        14            Trip report.  (20) --

        15

        16       we think that's his document numbered 20 --

        17

        18            trucking fee of concern --

        19

        20       The only trip report that I think I'm aware of is one

        21       of January or February 2001, which speaks of 10 per cent

        22       trucking fee and expresses the thought that it might be a

        23       method of extracting dollars from the United Nations escrow

        24       account.  You were aware of that 10 per cent factor, were

        25       you?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   You say:

        29

        30            I initially thought that 10% was going to

        31            E&W!

        32

        33       I assume that's Mr Emons and Mr Watson; is that right?

        34       A.   I don't think those two points are related.  I don't

        35       believe I would have said that.  I think that if we go back

        36       to the October trip which Mr Agius was asking me questions

        37       on earlier, about the missing funds that had not been paid

        38       to Alia --

        39

        40       Q.   All right, we treat those two lines as separate, then.

        41       You were aware of the trip report and the 10 per cent

        42       factor which had been introduced?

        43       A.   Yes.

        44

        45       Q.   What did you think that was for?

        46       A.   The trucking fees.

        47
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         1       Q.   But there were separate trucking fees apart from that

         2       10 per cent?

         3       A.   I understood that that was the way - it was explained

         4       to me that that was the way that trucking fees were now to

         5       be determined.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Could we go to page AWB.9001.0218, please.

         8       Would you read paragraph 10.1, please, Mr Stott?

         9       A.   Yes.

        10

        11       Q.   Is it accurate?

        12       A.   Which part, Mr Agius?

        13

        14       Q.   All of it.  Is there any part of it that you disagree

        15       with?

        16       A.   Well, I disagree with the last sentence - probably the

        17       last two sentences.  This is not a statement that I have

        18       adopted.  It is not a statement that I've signed.  It's not

        19       a statement that I recall seeing until last Thursday.

        20       So --

        21

        22       Q.   So you disagree with the last two sentences?

        23       A.   Yes.

        24

        25       Q.

        26            I didn't like and whilst an email that

        27            I received from Dominic Hogan dated

        28            2 November 2000 states that it would be

        29            approved in writing...by the UN it would

        30            have been my responsibility to obtain this

        31            approval.

        32

        33       You don't deny receiving an email from Mr Hogan indicating

        34       that the arrangement concerning the 10 per cent would be

        35       approved in writing by the UN, do you?

        36       A.   Yes, I do.

        37

        38       MR LACAVA:   I object to that.  That's not what the

        39       evidence is, Mr Commissioner, with respect.  The evidence

        40       clearly is that Mr Hogan said --

        41

        42       MR AGIUS:   I will withdraw the question.

        43

        44       MR LACAVA:   Thank you.

        45

        46       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Do you recall receiving an email

        47       in November 2000 in which Mr Hogan had said that the IGB
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         1       had said that the increase in the trucking fee, in effect,

         2       had been approved by the UN?

         3       A.   No.  I don't recall receiving that.  I don't think

         4       that's what the email said.

         5

         6       Q.   Do you recall receiving an email that spoke of an

         7       approval by the United Nations?

         8       A.   Can we pull up the email, Mr Agius?

         9

        10       Q.   No, I am asking you a question, Mr Stott.

        11       A.   Well, I don't think it was in those terms.

        12

        13       Q.   Can you recall it or not?

        14       A.   I don't think it was in those terms.

        15

        16       Q.   Can you recall it or not.

        17

        18       MR LACAVA:   This is really quite objectionable and unfair.

        19       There has never been any contest from this witness that he

        20       got the email.  My learned friend should put the email to

        21       him and get the question right.  The email quite clearly

        22       differs from what's in the witness statement that counsel

        23       assisting is trying to get the witness to adopt.  It is

        24       most unfair, in my submission, and my learned friend should

        25       do it properly.

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   I am not trying to get the witness to adopt

        28       anything.  I am trying to understand the basis upon which

        29       he says he does not accept the last two sentences.

        30

        31       MR LACAVA:   Well, in fairness, put the document that you

        32       are cross-examining about in front of him.  He can not see

        33       it.

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Tell me, Mr Stott, did you ever receive a

        36       written approval?

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   Have you any explanation as to how it might be, in

        40       this draft statement, that there is recorded the words:

        41

        42            I do not recall ever receiving such a

        43            written approval.

        44

        45       A.   It is qualified "by the UN".

        46

        47       Q.   I am sorry?
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         1       A.   It is qualified.  It refers to written approval from

         2       the UN.  At no point in evidence before you, in this

         3       Commission, to the Commissioner, have I said that

         4       I received written approval from the UN.  I haven't said

         5       that.  So that's why this is not --

         6

         7       Q.   What is your recollection of what you have said,

         8       Mr Stott?

         9       A.   My recollection of what I have said is that I was

        10       produced - provided written approval.  I was provided with

        11       a document that showed the trucking fees separately

        12       itemised in a contract.  That's what I recall having said

        13       to you and the Commissioner, Mr Agius.  I did not say --

        14

        15       Q.   Which contract had been approved by the UN?

        16       A.   The contract was ultimately approved by the UN.

        17       I understood that that contract went to the UN.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.  Is this the document that is not

        20       available?

        21       A.   That's the one that is not available, Commissioner.

        22       Well, it doesn't appear to be available.

        23

        24       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Is it true to say that as at September of

        25       2004 you did not recall discussing the issue of the

        26       10 per cent increase in fees with Dominic Hogan and

        27       Mr Borlase or either of them coming to you to discuss it?

        28       A.   I don't recall them saying that in December -

        29       in September 2004, Mr Agius, but I have provided evidence,

        30       and I don't disagree that I did discuss that 10 per cent

        31       with Mr Hogan following his return.  I don't recall saying

        32       that.

        33

        34       Q.   Could we go to paragraph 15.1, please, at

        35       AWB.9001.0222.  Is it correct to say that Mark Emons

        36       claimed that Trevor Flugge knew and approved the inland

        37       transport fees and the payments to Ronly?

        38       A.   Well, that's what I - I mean, that's what I heard, was

        39       told, advised.

        40

        41       Q.   And from whom did you hear that?

        42       A.   Mr Hogan and Mr Hughes.

        43

        44       Q.   Do you accept the accuracy of the statement here that

        45       Trevor was a fierce protector of Mark and Ronly?

        46       A.   No, I don't recall saying that.

        47
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         1       Q.   Do you accept the accuracy of it?  Was that your

         2       opinion?

         3       A.   No, I don't think that's my opinion.

         4

         5       Q.   Was it your opinion that other persons had also

         6       claimed to have discussed the issue of Mr Flugge's approval

         7       of the inland transport fees and the payments to Ronly?

         8       A.   No, I don't recall saying that.

         9

        10       Q.   Can we bring up, please, confidential exhibit 56C -

        11       AWB.0144.0221.  This is an email from Mr Hogan to you,

        12       amongst others, which records:

        13

        14            10% will be added to price and included

        15            into trucking fee - i.e. IGB will confirm

        16            [a US dollar amount] and trucking fee will

        17            be USD44.50...this has been approved by UN

        18            (as per IGB - I will get this in writing).

        19

        20       You recall receiving that email, don't you, Mr Stott?

        21       A.   Yes.

        22

        23       Q.   Do you deny that it would have been your

        24       responsibility to obtain evidence of that approval?

        25       A.   I'm ultimately in charge, or at that time, of

        26       International Sales and Marketing - a position I held for

        27       14 months.  It is my International Sales and Marketing

        28       team.  It was instructed to get it in writing and I believe

        29       it was got in writing.

        30

        31       Q.   I thought you said just a few moments ago, when

        32       objection was taken to a question, that you had never seen

        33       such an approval in writing, that what you saw was a

        34       contract with the trucking fee separately itemised, and

        35       that you understood that contract had gone to the UN and

        36       been approved.

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   Well, which is it?

        40       A.   Exactly as you have just said.

        41

        42       Q.   So when you said "it was instructed to get it in

        43       writing and it was got in writing", when you said that on

        44       your oath a minute ago, that was wrong, was it?

        45       A.   No.  I don't understand how that could be wrong.

        46

        47       Q.   Did you receive in writing an approval from the United
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         1       Nations for the 10 per cent increase?

         2       A.   I don't think I have ever said we did get an approval

         3       from the United Nations for the 10 per cent increase.

         4

         5       Q.   Let me read back your answer, Mr Stott:

         6

         7            Do you deny that it would have been your

         8            responsibility to obtain evidence of that

         9            approval --

        10

        11       MR LACAVA:   What page are you reading from?

        12

        13       MR AGIUS:   The current page on the screen:

        14

        15            I'm ultimately in charge, or at that time,

        16            of International Sales and Marketing - a

        17            position I held for 14 months.  It is my

        18            International Sales and Marketing team.  It

        19            was instructed to get it in writing and

        20            I believe it was got in writing.

        21

        22       A.   I instructed - I think that is incorrect there.

        23       I instructed Mr Hogan that I wanted confirmation in

        24       writing.  He got and produced a contract.  I understood

        25       that that contract went to the UN in that form, and

        26       Mr Hogan subsequently received UN approval for that

        27       shipment - those shipments to go ahead.  I didn't see the

        28       UN approval, but I understood that the contract, with the

        29       10 per cent, or with the trucking fee separately itemised

        30       at the higher price, went to the UN.

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Do I understand your evidence to

        33       be that the contract you say you saw, which you believed

        34       was approved by the UN, had separately shown a trucking fee

        35       in a high amount, but did not have separately shown a

        36       trucking fee plus a 10 per cent accretion?

        37       A.   Yes, Commissioner.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Q.   But you never saw that contract in the

        40       form in which you have just described bearing any sign of

        41       approval from the United Nations?

        42       A.   No.

        43

        44       Q.   So when you said "it was instructed to get it in

        45       writing and it was got in writing", that wasn't entirely

        46       accurate, was it?

        47       A.   I think it might have been transcribed incorrectly.
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         1       I instructed the team to get it in writing on that

         2       approval.

         3

         4       Q.   And you went on to say "and it was got in writing".

         5       What I am putting to you is that wasn't accurate, was it?

         6       A.   No, I don't think - I think we are at cross-purposes

         7       and I think I've been accurate to you.  I got the contract,

         8       I was shown a contract with it in the contract.

         9       I understood that that contract went to the UN and

        10       I understood that the UN approved that contract.  I did not

        11       see the UN approval, but the shipments all flowed and the

        12       appropriate approvals were obtained.

        13

        14       Q.   You don't know what contract was approved by the UN,

        15       do you?

        16       A.   No.

        17

        18       Q.   Could we bring up, please, AWB.9005.0274.  Could we go

        19       to the bottom of that page and then go to the next page,

        20       0275.  This email train begins with an email --

        21       A.   Sorry, Mr Agius, is this a public document?

        22

        23       Q.   It has been released by the Federal Court and the

        24       claim for privilege has been disallowed.  It is about to be

        25       a public document, because I am about to tender it.

        26       A.   Well, if you do tender it, would you mind just

        27       removing my mobile phone numbers from it, please?

        28

        29       Q.   Certainly.  To the extent to which it has otherwise

        30       been made public, Mr Stott --

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   I make a non-publication order in

        33       respect of Mr Stott's mobile telephone number.

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   Q.   The email train commences with an email

        36       from Catherine Button to Peter Hargreaves at AWB, attaching

        37       the further updated draft of the position paper.  That

        38       email is dated 24 February 2005.  If we go back now to

        39       0274, we can see that that email was forwarded to you by

        40       Mr Hargreaves, and then at the top of the page we have your

        41       comments on that position paper to Mr Hargreaves on

        42       25 February 2005.  We have identified the position paper

        43       dated 24 February 2005 as being document AWB.9005.0363

        44       through to and inclusive of 0368.  Mr Stott, I wonder if

        45       you would take a moment to read the dot points in your

        46       email.  For this purpose, I will provide you with a hard

        47       copy of the position paper, and I would ask you to confirm
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         1       whether or not your email and what you said in it was

         2       accurate to the best of your knowledge and belief at the

         3       time.

         4       A.   I've read those documents, Mr Agius.

         5

         6       Q.   Do you say that your email accurately reflected your

         7       belief as at the date of the email?

         8       A.   Yes.

         9

        10       MR AGIUS:   I tender the email, barcoded AWB.9005.0274.

        11       I do not tender the mobile and work telephone numbers which

        12       are recorded on it for Mr Stott, nor the mobile telephone

        13       number which is recorded on it for Catherine Button.

        14

        15       EXHIBIT #1356 EMAIL BARCODED AWB.9005.0274-0275

        16

        17       MR AGIUS:   I tender the position paper dated 24 February

        18       2005 at AWB.9005.0363 through to 0368.

        19

        20       EXHIBIT #1357 POSITION PAPER DATED 24/2/2005,

        21       BARCODED AWB.9005.0363-0368

        22

        23       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Does it follow, then, Mr Stott, that you

        24       always assumed that Alia was a joint venture between the

        25       governments of Iraq and Jordan?

        26       A.   I think when I wrote this that's what I believed to be

        27       correct at the time, but it is when I acquired that state

        28       of knowledge, Mr Agius --

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.  That's not what it says.

        31       A.   Yes.  Well, I think the word "always" - I haven't had

        32       the opportunity, in light of this inquiry, to change the

        33       way I have written things, and I would like to, but

        34       obviously at the time, as I have written that, that was my

        35       state of mind at that time.  But it's not - it is based on

        36       the heritage which we've talked about of that company.

        37

        38       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Do you see the third-last dot point,

        39       Mr Stott?

        40       A.   Yes.

        41

        42       Q.   You refer to page 5, question 3.  Question 3 was:

        43

        44            Did AWB know that the government of Iraq

        45            was a majority shareholder in Alia?

        46

        47       And your comment in relation to that question was:
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         1

         2            Always assumed this to be the case given

         3            the Alia's heritage.

         4

         5       Do you see that?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   If you go two dot points above it, you have written:

         9

        10            Always assumed that Alia was a JV --

        11

        12       which we take to be joint venture; is that right, a joint

        13       venture?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.

        17

        18            -- between the governments of Iraq and

        19            Jordan.

        20

        21       So twice in that document you've used the past tense and

        22       used the words "always assumed".  Should we not rely upon

        23       what you wrote on 25 February 2005?

        24       A.   I don't think I would have had that knowledge earlier,

        25       Mr Agius.  I think that the words I've used are poor words

        26       there.

        27

        28       Q.   Did you understand that this was to be, at that time,

        29       a position paper of AWB in relation to its dealings with

        30       the Iraqis and Alia during the Oil-for-Food Program?  Did

        31       you not understand that from the course of emails and from

        32       the document itself?

        33       A.   I didn't think this was - wasn't this a public

        34       position paper?

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Does it make a difference whether

        37       it was public or private?

        38       A.   No, just the way the question was phrased, that's all.

        39       Would you mind repeating the question, Mr Agius?

        40

        41       MR AGIUS:   Q.

        42

        43            Did you understand that this was to be, at

        44            that time, a position paper of AWB in

        45            relation to its dealings with the Iraqis

        46            and Alia during the Oil-for-Food Program?

        47            Did you not understand that from the course
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         1            of the emails and from the document itself?

         2

         3       A.   I'm not sure I understood that this was the position

         4       paper, the only position paper, if that's the way your

         5       question is crafted --

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Stott, we're talking

         8       about February 2005.

         9       A.   Yes.

        10

        11       Q.   You, amongst others, were likely to be, although you

        12       weren't, others were, interviewed by the IIC committee?

        13       A.   Yes.

        14

        15       Q.   There was public controversy about what the position

        16       of AWB was, and here we have an AWB Oil-for-Food Program

        17       position paper that you were being asked to comment upon?

        18       A.   Yes, and I provided that document.

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   Q.   If we go to the last four lines of your

        21       email, it reads:

        22

        23            The UN recognised, due to sanctions, they

        24            had no way of earning foreign currency to

        25            pay for the transportation of the grain

        26            other than via the program, therefore, it

        27            was agreed by the UN and the Iraq's that

        28            the transport component would be included

        29            in all future contracts.

        30

        31       What was your source of information for the statement:

        32

        33            ...it was agreed by the UN and the Iraq's

        34            that the transport component would be

        35            included in all future contracts.

        36

        37       A.   I don't recall what my source of information for that

        38       was.  It might have been the Iraqis.  It could have been my

        39       colleagues.  I just don't recall who it was.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Perhaps you might read the lines

        42       immediately above that.

        43       A.   Okay, well, it says "by the IGB".

        44

        45       MR AGIUS:   Q.   That's not a matter you ever queried with

        46       either DFAT or the UN, was it?

        47       A.   I don't think, in evidence before the Commission by
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         1       the UN, it has been contested by the UN either.  I think

         2       the UN agreed with that.

         3

         4       Q.   Mr Stott, would you just address my question?  That's

         5       not a matter you ever queried with either DFAT or the UN,

         6       was it?

         7       A.   No.

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   That completes the examination.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Agius, I think you should also

        12       tender a document which is headed "AWB Limited Australian

        13       Wheat Board Oil-for-Food Program".  It was a document for

        14       which was claimed legal professional privilege.  It is

        15       AWB.9005.0355 through to 0361.  It should be tendered

        16       because it appears to be a document which AWB prepared,

        17       having had regard to Mr Stott's comments in this

        18       memorandum, or email, which is exhibit 1356.  The reason

        19       I want it tendered is because what is omitted from what

        20       appears to be the final position paper is the knowledge in

        21       relation to Alia.

        22

        23       MR AGIUS:   I will then tender the AWB Limited Australian

        24       Wheat Board Oil-for-Food Program document, barcoded

        25       AWB.9005.0355 through to and inclusive of 0361.

        26

        27       EXHIBIT #1358 AWB LIMITED AUSTRALIAN WHEAT BOARD

        28       OIL-FOR-FOOD PROGRAM DOCUMENT, BARCODED AWB.9005.0355-0361

        29

        30       MR AGIUS:   That completes my examination, then, of

        31       Mr Stott.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Lacava?

        34

        35       MR LACAVA:   No questions.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd?

        38

        39       MR JUDD:   No.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   Does anybody else wish to ask Mr Stott

        42       any questions?  Yes, thank you, Mr Stott.  You are excused

        43       now.

        44

        45       SHORT ADJOURNMENT

        46

        47       MR AGIUS:   I call Rosemary Peavey.
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         1

         2       <ROSEMARY VERONICA PEAVEY , on former oath:  [4.40pm]

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Ms Peavey, you are on your former

         5       oath?

         6       A.   Yes, thank you.

         7

         8       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

         9

        10       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Ms Peavey, since you were last with us

        11       some further documents have appeared and I need to ask you

        12       some questions about them, but in order to do that I should

        13       put this in some kind of temporal context.  Yesterday we

        14       saw exhibit 1312, which is a chain of emails commencing

        15       with the letter from Erol Yahya of 10 June 2002.  Could we

        16       bring up, please, AWB.0378.0171.  We now have a copy of

        17       this document which is not blacked out.  I just need to

        18       turn it up.  We have that document at AWB.0470.0037.

        19       I wonder if that could be brought up, please.  If we go to

        20       the bottom of that page, you will see that there is an

        21       email from Jean-Marc Shammas to Mark Rowland, Michael Long

        22       and others, which annexes the letter of 10 June 2002 from

        23       Erol Yahya.  Could we turn the page, please, to 0338.

        24       That's the letter that I took you to yesterday.  Do you

        25       recall that?

        26       A.   Mr Agius, who received that letter?

        27

        28       Q.   This letter went to Mark Rowland and Michael Long,

        29       Erol Yahya and Clare at Ronly.  It then eventually found

        30       its way to you.  Could we please go to 0337.  Let's work

        31       backwards.  Do you see Mr Diamante writes to you copied to

        32       Ms Lyons, saying:

        33

        34            Rosemary, I need yours or Jess's help in

        35            formulating a response to Ronly.

        36

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   Having been asked by Mr Fahy to check the matter out,

        40       the matter that has been checked out is the letter that

        41       I took you to?

        42       A.   Yes.

        43

        44       Q.   That originally went to Mr Rowland and Mr Long.  If we

        45       go back to that letter, at 0338, this letter was shown to

        46       you when you last gave evidence, and I took you through it,

        47       I think, line by line.  Do you see that in it Ronly say:
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         1

         2            At your request we fronted this chartering

         3            arrangement through our nominee company Tse

         4            Yu Hong Metal Limited against a

         5            back-to-back indemnity.

         6

         7       A.   Yes, I see that.

         8

         9       Q.   Do you recall seeing this letter yesterday?

        10       A.   Vaguely, yes.

        11

        12       Q.   Well, you see that on 11 June 2002 Anthony Diamante -

        13       who was he?

        14       A.   At that time I believe he would have been a freight

        15       officer within the chartering group.

        16

        17       Q.   He wrote to you saying that he needed your help or

        18       Jess's help in formulating a response to Ronly.

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   I will tender this document, Mr Commissioner,

        21       because it includes the request for help by Mr Diamante

        22       which has been blacked out of exhibit 1312.

        23

        24       EXHIBIT #1359 DOCUMENT BARCODED AWB.0470.0037-0038

        25

        26       MR AGIUS:   Q.   The next document I took you to was an

        27       email from Mr Rowland in response to Jean-Marc Shammas's

        28       letter, which had been copied to you, amongst others.  It

        29       was exhibit 1313.  Can we bring up, please, AWB.0462.0008.

        30       In that Mr Rowland says that he had spoken to his legal

        31       department that morning in regards to the facsimile message

        32       and that it has been passed on to company lawyers, who will

        33       draft a formal response.  Do you see that?

        34       A.   Yes, I do.

        35

        36       Q.   The next document was also part of exhibit 1313, being

        37       an email from Mr Cooper to you, barcoded AWB.0462.0009.  On

        38       19 June Mr Cooper wrote to you and said:

        39

        40            Amarantos - Rosemary - we already have a

        41            file on this.  Can you please look after

        42            it?

        43

        44       Do you see that?

        45       A.   Yes, I do.

        46

        47       Q.   That was 19 June.  The next document I want to bring
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         1       up is AWB.0470.0043.  This is an email from Clive Madder at

         2       Phillips Fox to you on 27 June attaching correspondence.

         3       If we go to the next document, 0044, Mr Matter and

         4       Mr Tulloch write to you acknowledging receipt of your

         5       facsimile of 19 June containing correspondence from

         6       Ronly Holdings dated 10 June 2002 and seeking a response to

         7       Norton White's notice of claim on behalf of Atlantic &

         8       Orient Shipping company.  Now, Ms Peavey, we've not been

         9       able to locate your facsimile of 19 June 2002, but this is

        10       in response to it.  Could we turn the page, please, to

        11       0045.  You will see that the solicitor and partner from

        12       Phillips Fox set out the history of the matter, which

        13       I won't take your time up with reading now.  You might just

        14       look through that page.

        15       A.   Yes.

        16

        17       Q.   If we go to the next page, 0046, they tell you what

        18       the response has been by them.  If we go to 0047, you will

        19       see at paragraph 5.1:

        20

        21            We recommend that a letter be sent to Ronly

        22            Holdings by AWB in the form of the draft

        23            attached.

        24

        25       And if we go to 0048, we have the draft response, settled

        26       by Phillips Fox, for you to send off to Mr Yahya at Ronly.

        27       Do you see that?

        28       A.   Yes, I do.

        29

        30       MR AGIUS:   Commissioner, I tender as one exhibit

        31       AWB.0470.0043 through to 0048.

        32

        33       EXHIBIT #1360 DOCUMENT BARCODED AWB.0470.0043-0048

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   We are attempting to locate the facsimile of

        36       19 June 2002.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   If you do, it can be added to that

        39       exhibit.

        40

        41       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Yesterday we saw that you had received an

        42       email from Clare Calnan.  Can we bring up exhibit 1314,

        43       AWB.0462.0015.  You will see that Ms Calnan wrote to you on

        44       5 July and wrote to you again on 11 July, and on 19 July

        45       you wrote to her attaching a fax that you had just sent to

        46       Erol Yahya.  Could we go to page 0018.  This is your fax to

        47       Erol Yahya in which you incorporate the letter that had
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         1       been settled by Phillips Fox.

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   That completes exhibit 1314, and that brings us to

         5       19 July 2002.  The next document in the chronology, as best

         6       as I can determine, is exhibit 1259.  Could we bring up,

         7       please, AWB.0462.0022.  This is the letter from Nori Bali

         8       to you of 22 July 2002, in which Mr Bali expresses shock

         9       and surprise at your letter of 19 July, and in which he

        10       says in the second paragraph:

        11

        12            I was present during the meetings and

        13            discussions which took place with Trevor

        14            Flugge, the then Chairman of the AWB;

        15            Michael Watson, the then head of chartering

        16            and Nigel Officer and Mark Emons who, at

        17            that time were responsible for AWB's

        18            business with Iraq.  Paul Ingleby head of

        19            AWB's finance department was also fully

        20            aware of and authorised these transactions.

        21

        22       So we have now moved to 22 July and that additional

        23       information being provided by Mr Bali.  Could we bring up,

        24       please, AWB .0470.0054.  We were this morning provided with

        25       this additional letter, Ms Peavey, from Phillips Fox to you

        26       of 24 July 2002.  It is thanking you for your email dated

        27       24 July 2002, attaching a letter from Nori Bali dated

        28       22 July 2002.  We are still attempting to locate a copy of

        29       your email of 24 July, but the significance of this letter

        30       from Phillips Fox is to be found in the next paragraph.

        31       They go on:

        32

        33            The difficulty for us is that we do not

        34            know what AWB agreed with Ronly, and so we

        35            do not know the accuracy of the assertions

        36            made in paragraph 3 of Nori Bali's letter.

        37            Given that it is said that a number of AWB

        38            representatives were present, is AWB able

        39            to follow up the matter with any of the

        40            persons referred to in paragraph 2?

        41

        42       And Ms Peavey, you will recall that I read paragraph 2 of

        43       Mr Bali's letter of 22 July 2002 to you.

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   Phillips Fox go on:

        47
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         1            It appears that Ronly's pressure on AWB is

         2            premature, given that neither Ronly nor AWB

         3            are parties to the arbitration.  As we have

         4            previously advised, if and when Ronly

         5            becomes a party to the arbitration, they

         6            can then decide whether or not to join AWB

         7            based on the entitlement to indemnity to

         8            which Ronly refers.

         9

        10       Then they say this:

        11

        12            In any case, I suggest that before you can

        13            respond meaningfully to Ronly, it is

        14            necessary that contact be made with as many

        15            of the persons from AWB referred to in

        16            paragraph 2 as possible.  This may require

        17            the provision of written statements in

        18            order to ascertain exactly what has

        19            occurred.

        20            In the meantime, I suggest that you write

        21            to Nori Bali advising that AWB's

        22            representatives are meeting with the

        23            solicitors for the owners on 31 July 2002,

        24            and that you will contact Ronly shortly

        25            thereafter in respect of the points raised

        26            in the letter dated 22 July 2002.

        27

        28       MR AGIUS:   I tender that two-page letter, Mr Commissioner,

        29       barcoded AWB.0470 .0054 and 0055.

        30

        31       EXHIBIT #1361 TWO-PAGE LETTER FROM PHILLIPS FOX,

        32       BARCODED AWB.0470.0054-0055

        33

        34       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Then can we come to AWB.0470.0056.  This

        35       is your fax to Nori Bali of 13 August 2002.  You refer to

        36       Mr Bali's email dated 30 July 2002, which we are

        37       endeavouring to locate:

        38

        39            ...regarding your request for AWB Limited

        40            to indemnify Ronly for any claims made by

        41            Atlantic and Orient if the Amarantos is

        42            successful in the London arbitration.

        43

        44       You go on to say this:

        45

        46            As you may be aware, the AWB staff you

        47            mentioned in your email as having a
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         1            significant role in the negotiation of the

         2            agreement between AWB Limited and Ronly,

         3            have now left AWB.  We are currently in the

         4            process of making discrete inquiries with

         5            some of these people, and we will let you

         6            know whether this clarifies the situation.

         7

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I tender that document -

        10       AWB.0470.0056 and 0057, 0057 being the confirmation of the

        11       fax to Mr Bali at Ronly Holdings.

        12

        13       EXHIBIT #1362 DOCUMENT BARCODED AWB.0470.0056-0057

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I think we have now located the email of

        16       30 July 2002 from Mr Bali, to which your fax was a

        17       response.  Could we bring up, please, AWB.0470.0086.

        18       Mr Bali writes to you and others at AWB, including Mr Fahy

        19       and Mr Long, thanking you for your message, expressing his

        20       surprise at your inability to respond, offering you an

        21       extension, and he says at the end of the first paragraph:

        22

        23            I appreciate that the people involved on

        24            this transaction are no longer working for

        25            the AWB but I believe that they are all

        26            contactable and that they can confirm to

        27            you the position.

        28

        29       MR AGIUS:   I tender that document.  I should add it to

        30       exhibit 1362.

        31

        32       EXHIBIT #1362 ADDITION OF DOCUMENT BARCODED AWB.0470.0086

        33

        34       MR AGIUS:   Q.  Ms Peavey, you had advice from Phillips Fox

        35       to make inquiries of those referred to in Mr Bali's letter

        36       of 22 July, even raising the possibility of taking

        37       statements from those persons, and then you wrote to

        38       Mr Bali saying that you were currently in the process of

        39       making discrete inquiries with some of these people.  What

        40       inquiries did you make?

        41       A.   I believe my response to Mr Bali actually said we were

        42       in the process of making inquiries.

        43

        44       Q.

        45            We are currently in the process of making

        46            discrete inquiries with some of these

        47            people and we will let you know whether
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         1            this clarifies the situation.

         2

         3       My question is what inquiries did you make?

         4       A.   I can't recall exactly what inquiries I've made.  I've

         5       had the brief opportunity to review the file this morning,

         6       and I believe that either myself or Peter Jones may have

         7       spoken to Paul Ingleby about this issue, but I don't -

         8       I haven't been able to find any diary notes on the file to

         9       indicate that, but my practice would have been to follow up

        10       with at least the current staff at AWB.

        11

        12       Q.   Well, you say in your letter to Mr Bali "some of these

        13       people".  Do you have any recollection of in fact following

        14       the matter up with Mr Ingleby?

        15       A.   No, I don't.

        16

        17       Q.   Do you have any recollection of following the matter

        18       up with Mr Flugge?

        19       A.   I believe not.  I've never spoken to Mr Flugge, except

        20       early last year.

        21

        22       Q.   Or with Mr Watson?

        23       A.   I've never spoken to Mr Watson.

        24

        25       Q.   Or with Mr Officer?

        26       A.   I believe I've never spoken to Mr Officer.

        27

        28       Q.   Or with Mr Emons?

        29       A.   No, I've never spoken to Mr Emons.

        30

        31       Q.   Well, they are four of the five people mentioned by

        32       Mr Bali in his letter to you of 22 July 2002.  Why did you

        33       not speak with any of those four people?

        34       A.   I had only commenced working at AWB possibly four to

        35       six weeks prior to this issue arising.  I was relying very

        36       heavily on information from the people involved internally

        37       at AWB at that time, who I believe are listed in the

        38       various emails and correspondence.  Also Phillips Fox had

        39       been involved in this matter for quite some time prior to

        40       me commencing my secondment at AWB, so all the information

        41       that - well all the requests of information that were

        42       coming through to me, I was seeking guidance from the

        43       business and from Phillips Fox.

        44

        45       Q.   Well, you had your guidance from Phillips Fox.  Would

        46       you like me to read it to you again?

        47       A.   No, I recall exactly what they've written.
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         1

         2       Q.   Phillips Fox asked you to make further inquiries.  Why

         3       didn't you make those inquiries of Messrs Flugge, Watson,

         4       Officer or Emons?

         5       A.   All I can say is at that time I had been assured by

         6       the business that there were no documents to indicate that

         7       there was evidence of an indemnity, which is the issue that

         8       we were focusing on in relation to this correspondence.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Well, Phillips Fox knew that;

        11       that's why they asked you to talk to the people involved.

        12       A.   I can't really - I can't recall whether or not

        13       personally I had spoken to Mr Ingleby.  I wonder whether

        14       someone else in the business had at that time.

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I'm not asking you about Mr Ingleby.  You

        17       have told us that you have never spoken during this period

        18       to Messrs Flugge, Watson, Officer or Emons.  It follows,

        19       then, that you never spoke to any of them in response to

        20       this request from Phillips Fox that you do so.  I am asking

        21       you why you didn't.

        22       A.   I don't know.  I don't know why.

        23

        24       Q.   Phillips Fox said to you that before you could respond

        25       meaningfully to Ronly, "It is necessary that contact be

        26       made with as many of the persons from AWB referred to in

        27       Mr Bali's second paragraph as possible.  This may require

        28       the provision of written statements."  Think carefully

        29       before you answer this question, Ms Peavey:  were you

        30       directed not to approach any of those four persons?

        31       A.   I don't believe so.  I don't recall.  I've got no file

        32       notes to indicate what, if anything, I did about those four

        33       people.

        34

        35       Q.   Why do you have no file note?

        36       A.   I don't know.  I've looked through the file this

        37       morning and there is no file note.

        38

        39       Q.   You said you relied upon advice from people within the

        40       business.  What did you mean by that?  Did you rely upon

        41       their advice as to whether or not you should approach these

        42       people?

        43       A.   There may have been some concern about approaching

        44       former employees who may now be - well, at that time may

        45       have been working for competitors, but I have got no clear

        46       recollection.

        47
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         1       Q.   Mr Flugge - July 2002:  I don't think he falls into

         2       the category of someone who may have been working for a

         3       competitor at that time.

         4       A.   Well, I had no contact with Mr Flugge until last year.

         5

         6       Q.   Does it not strike you as strange that there's nothing

         7       on the file dealing with any approach to any of these five

         8       people?

         9       A.   Well, on reflection now --

        10

        11       MR LIVERMORE:   I object to that, sir, because there is.

        12       It's not abundantly clear what it means, we've only had a

        13       short time to go through the material.

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   If I am wrong, I am happy to withdraw the

        16       question.

        17

        18       MR LIVERMORE:   I can show my friend the relevant page.

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   You do that.

        21

        22       MR AGIUS:   I apologise, I have only seen this material

        23       since after lunch.  I had a quick look at it this morning.

        24

        25       MR LIVERMORE:   It is the last line on the page that I am

        26       showing counsel assisting.

        27

        28       MR AGIUS:   Oh, yes.  Thank you, I am indebted to my friend

        29       for that.  Could we bring up, please, AWB.0470.0087.

        30

        31       Q.   I mean no disrespect to you at all, Ms Peavey, but

        32       what is that?

        33       A.   I have the most appalling art work on my file notes.

        34       I really apologise for that.  I believe - I've only seen

        35       this this morning, and I believe I may have been at a

        36       meeting with someone from the business to try and explain

        37       to me the complex transaction involving Amarantos, and this

        38       diagram shows what the issue is, that there is an unsafe

        39       berth and why the Amarantos collided.  It shows - sorry --

        40

        41       Q.   I didn't mean to cut you off.  I thought you had

        42       finished.  Would you please go on?

        43       A.   It shows that the owners of Amarantos had a charter

        44       party with Atlantic & Orient.  I'm not quite sure what

        45       those words are in the brackets.  Then it is a

        46       relationship, some sort of contractual relationship between

        47       Atlantic & Orient and Ronly, who then have their nominee
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         1       company on the side and then there is --

         2

         3       Q.   The words in brackets appear to be abbreviations for

         4       "charter", and then the word "guarantee"?

         5       A.   Yes, that's right.  That looks like that.

         6

         7       Q.   And then AWB in brackets?

         8       A.   That looks correct, Mr Agius.

         9

        10       Q.   So that's the indemnity for A&O given by AWB in

        11       respect of A&O's dealings with Ronly?

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       Q.   Yes.

        15       A.   And then there is a further contractual relationship

        16       between Ronly and AWB.  That's what those arrows mean.

        17

        18       Q.   So we've got back-to-back charter parties between A&O

        19       and Ronly and Ronly and AWB?

        20       A.   I believe that's what that diagram signifies.  I'm

        21       being told this obviously by someone in the business.

        22

        23       Q.   To put this in layman's terms, this is the insertion

        24       of Ronly between AWB and A&O?

        25       A.   That's correct.

        26

        27       Q.   So that AWB doesn't deal directly with A&O in respect

        28       of whatever this business is, but deals through Ronly; is

        29       that right?

        30       A.   Apparently, that's correct.

        31

        32       Q.   And Ronly was itself dealing through its shelf

        33       company, or its nominee, "Tse Hung", according to your

        34       note; is that right?

        35       A.   That's correct.

        36

        37       Q.   How does this file note indicate that it is in any way

        38       in response to Phillips Fox's request that as many of the

        39       people referred to in Mr Bali's letter be approached?  How

        40       does it bear upon that issue?

        41       A.   Well, I believe my notes - these three dot points

        42       there and the third dot point says:

        43

        44            People - discrete inquiries.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   The one above it says what?

        47       A.   The one above it says:
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         1

         2            Indemnity exists.  If exist [therefore].

         3

         4       I'm not quite sure what that word is, maybe "forward".

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   "Indemnity exists".  Then "if

         7       exists"?

         8       A.   "Therefore forward documents asserted - executed".  So

         9       I think I'm maybe saying - I can only speculate here - that

        10       if I find executed documents, then I need to forward them

        11       to our external lawyers, because that's what they were

        12       looking for.

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   Q.   So you still had questions, didn't you, at

        15       the time you made this note?

        16       A.   That - oh, I have no recollection of making this note,

        17       but it seems like I'm asking questions.

        18

        19       Q.   And the third dot point to which my learned friend

        20       kindly drew attention is:

        21

        22            People - discrete inquiries.

        23

        24       What does that relate to?

        25       A.   Well, it appears that it relates to the people that

        26       have been listed out in Nori Bali's letter.  It's possible

        27       that I've discussed that with someone.  I've only been in

        28       AWB for a very short period of time.  I don't know who

        29       these people are.

        30

        31       Q.   Well, you do; you are told who they are in Mr Bali's

        32       letter.

        33       A.   I've never met them, Mr Agius; I don't know what their

        34       positions were and where they fit into the organisation,

        35       that's what I meant.  I'm not clear from that third dot

        36       point whether that point there is an action item for the

        37       person who I was meeting with at that time.  Given that

        38       I've got no recollection of actually speaking to anyone or

        39       any file note, it's possible that people within the

        40       business may have made these discrete inquiries.

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   Can you tell from the file whether this

        43       document precedes the 13 August letter?

        44

        45       MR LIVERMORE:   We can't, sir.  They seem to be out of date

        46       order.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   On the face of it, "People - diverse

         2       inquiries" rather suggests that this is information this

         3       lady received before she wrote the letter, and she is going

         4       to make some diverse inquiries.

         5

         6       MR LIVERMORE:   Discrete inquiries.  Yes, that's why we

         7       picked it up.  The same phrase was used and it seems that

         8       it may well be a response to the people named in the letter

         9       my friend has talked about.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   I would draw the opposite inference,

        12       that this is a note made before the letter of 13 August was

        13       written and it is a reminder that she should make discrete

        14       inquiries, and she writes to them saying "That's what we

        15       are doing".

        16

        17       MR LIVERMORE:   Yes, there is no quarrel with that, sir.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   That leaves us precisely where we were

        20       at 10 minutes ago:  what inquiries were made?  Apparently

        21       none.

        22

        23       MR LIVERMORE:   The reason for the note, the witness has

        24       hypothesised that the note may indicate that someone more

        25       familiar with the business and the transaction and the

        26       people may have told her that they would make discrete

        27       inquiries in response to Phillips Fox's request for those

        28       people to be contacted.  That's as I understand the

        29       witness's evidence.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   It doesn't say anything like that.

        32

        33       MR LIVERMORE:   Pardon?

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   It doesn't say anything like that.

        36

        37       MR LIVERMORE:   It is certainly consistent with that, in my

        38       submission.

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:   Q.   How in any way, Ms Peavey, is it

        41       consistent with this note that other people were to make

        42       the discrete inquiries about the persons named in Nori

        43       Bali's letter?  Upon what could we possibly base any such

        44       interpretation of this note?

        45       A.   This is the only note I've got that I believe is in

        46       the file that relates to this issue, and I can't - I have

        47       no recollection of speaking to those people, so all I can
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         1       assume is that someone else who is more familiar with this

         2       matter, remembering that I've only been there for a very

         3       short period of time, and more familiar with the business

         4       has actually taken it upon themselves to make some

         5       inquiries.

         6

         7       Q.   That's an assumption on your part, isn't it?

         8       A.   Well, I think it's a reasonable assumption.

         9

        10       Q.   Is it any more reasonable an assumption that nobody

        11       made the inquiries?

        12       A.   Well, I don't believe so, because we did, I think,

        13       eventually write back to Mr Bali and reject his assertions

        14       that AWB had made arrangements for an indemnity.

        15

        16       Q.   You rejected the assertion on the basis that you

        17       couldn't find a document, that's an entirely different

        18       matter.  You didn't reject the assertion on the basis that

        19       you had made inquiries of these five people and they didn't

        20       support Mr Bali's claims; would you agree with me?

        21       A.   I don't know.

        22

        23       Q.   We will come to the documents.  So what do you say

        24       this document is?  Does it predate or postdate 13 August

        25       2002, or can't you say?

        26       A.   I can't say, I'm afraid.

        27

        28       Q.   Can you say who it was that you were in conversation

        29       with as a result of which you made these notes?

        30       A.   It's possible - the only people that I think at that

        31       time were assisting me in gathering information were

        32       Michael Long, from IS&M, and Peter Jones, who was the

        33       chartering manager at that time.

        34

        35       Q.   Do you say that they were assisting you in relation to

        36       this inquiry, or is that an assumption on your part?

        37       A.   It's - well, I think it's a high possibility that they

        38       were assisting me, given that I had no knowledge of the

        39       business at that time, or very little knowledge, and I've

        40       never dealt with chartering, maritime disputes before.

        41

        42       Q.   Have you any file note of any conversation with either

        43       Mr Long or Mr Jones on the topic of approaching the five

        44       persons named in Mr Bali's letter for information?

        45       A.   I haven't been able to - I haven't had the opportunity

        46       to review any of my diaries for that period of time.

        47       I understand they have all been produced.  I haven't had
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         1       the opportunity to review them this morning.

         2

         3       Q.   So at the moment you are not aware of any such file

         4       note?

         5       A.   No, I am not.

         6

         7       Q.   Are you aware of any file note or any note at all of

         8       any kind anywhere evidencing any approach by anybody to any

         9       one of these five people mentioned in Mr Bali's letter?

        10       A.   No, I haven't had the opportunity to go and look for

        11       those notes.

        12

        13       Q.   Where would you look?

        14       A.   Probably any files that were held by International

        15       Sales and Marketing or Chartering.

        16

        17       Q.   Why would your notes be in files held by International

        18       Sales and Marketing or Chartering?  Why would you look

        19       there?

        20       A.   No, I am sorry.  I misunderstood your question.

        21       I don't believe any of my notes would be on those files;

        22       they should be on the legal file or in my day books.

        23

        24       Q.   Well, if we can't find them on the three folders of

        25       legal files that we've been given, is it a fair inference

        26       that there are no such notes, unless they are in your

        27       diaries?

        28       A.   Well, I can't confirm one way or the other.

        29

        30       MR AGIUS:   I will tender this undated note.

        31

        32       EXHIBIT #1363 UNDATED NOTE OF MS PEAVEY

        33       BARCODED AWB.0470.0087

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   Q.   The next document I want to take you to is

        36       a document which was provided to the inquiry last night.

        37       Could we bring up, please, AWB.0470.0060.  I believe this

        38       is exhibit 1347.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, it is exhibit 1347.

        41

        42       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Ms Peavey, this is a fax from Mr Bali to

        43       you on 16 August 2002.  Have you seen a copy of this fax in

        44       the last 24 hours?

        45       A.   I don't think so.  I don't believe I have, have I?

        46

        47       Q.   I wonder if you would read the first page, and when
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         1       you get to the bottom of the first page tell me and we will

         2       go to the next page.

         3

         4       MR LIVERMORE:   I wonder if I might supply the witness with

         5       a hard copy.  It might be easier than the witness trying to

         6       follow it on the screen.

         7

         8       THE WITNESS:   I've actually got a copy.

         9

        10       MR AGIUS:   Q.   So you have a copy but you haven't read it

        11       in the last 24 hours?

        12       A.   Sorry, I thought you asked whether I had read the fax

        13       dated 13 August - is that what you were referring to?

        14

        15       Q.   No, I was asking you about the document that is on the

        16       screen in front of you.

        17       A.   No - yes, I have.  Sorry, I have read that.

        18

        19       Q.   You have read that fax?

        20       A.   This morning.

        21

        22       Q.   You read it this morning.  When was the last time

        23       before then that you read it?

        24       A.   Probably 16 August, when I received it, in 2002.

        25

        26       Q.   So you would be aware by now that the fax covered

        27       copies of other documents which are referred to in the fax?

        28       A.   Sorry?

        29

        30       Q.   Other documents accompanied this fax?

        31       A.   Yes.  It says that there are seven pages.

        32

        33       Q.   Do you have the other five pages?

        34       A.   Yes, I do.

        35

        36       Q.   You will see, then, on the first page of the fax, that

        37       Mr Bali has said to you:

        38

        39            I note that you are proposing to make

        40            discrete inquiries with some of the people

        41            involved.  I have no idea why it is

        42            necessary for the enquiries to be discrete.

        43            All of the people concerned in this matter

        44            are contactable and, as far as I am aware

        45            are fully prepared to confirm what happened

        46            and the nature of the arrangement.  If

        47            necessary I can provide you with the
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         1            current contact details for the people

         2            referred to above.

         3

         4       What did you do when you received this fax?

         5       A.   I believe I would have either spoken to someone in the

         6       business --

         7

         8       Q.   Might that have been Michael Long?

         9       A.   Possibly, or --

        10

        11       Q.   Could we go to page 0061 - or who?

        12       A.   Or Peter Jones, the chartering manager at the time.

        13

        14       Q.   May we take it that you would have observed underneath

        15       Nori Bali's signature the reference to "cc Michael Long"?

        16       A.   Yes, I see that.

        17

        18       Q.   Does that mean that in all likelihood you would have

        19       gone and spoken to Mr Long about this?

        20       A.   It's possible, but I don't actually have any

        21       recollection.

        22

        23       Q.   You don't know whether you did or not?

        24       A.   I just don't have any recollection now of whether or

        25       not I approached Mr Long.

        26

        27       Q.   Do you have a file note?

        28       A.   I'm not aware.  I haven't been given much opportunity

        29       to review the whole file this morning.

        30

        31       Q.   Would you have, in the ordinary course of your

        32       practice, kept a file note?

        33       A.   Yes.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Do you recall if Mr Long came to

        36       see you?

        37       A.   It's possible, Mr Cole.  It's possible, but I don't

        38       know.  I don't recall discussing this particular piece of

        39       correspondence with Mr Long.

        40

        41       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Did you read the attachments to the fax at

        42       the time you received the fax?

        43       A.   I believe I must have, as there is various handwritten

        44       annotations, which is my handwriting, with various

        45       questions.

        46

        47       Q.   Well, did you think that one of those five people
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         1       mentioned in Mr Bali's letter of 22 July might be able to

         2       provide the answers to your questions?

         3       A.   Well, it's possible that that's why I was suggesting

         4       that either myself or Peter Jones had spoken to Paul

         5       Ingleby about this matter, given that he was the only AWB

         6       employee still with AWB at that time.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Are you speculating about this, or

         9       do you have some recollection about it?

        10       A.   I believe I haven't spoken to Mr Ingleby myself about

        11       this matter, but, given that he was one of the named

        12       people - I think there's a copy of Mr Nori Bali's letter to

        13       me listing out people's names with my handwritten notes on

        14       them that's actually on the file, that indicates where

        15       Nigel Officer was working, where the various people

        16       identified in that letter - where they were, and I've got

        17       an arrow going to Mr Ingleby's name saying "the only one

        18       still here".  So all I can say is the chances are that

        19       someone has gone to speak to Mr Ingleby about it.

        20

        21       MR AGIUS:   That is not a document I have seen,

        22       Mr Commissioner.

        23

        24       MR LIVERMORE:   We can find it, because I have seen it on

        25       the plane on the way up here today.  We have got tags on a

        26       lot of things, but I will find it and draw it to my

        27       friend's attention.

        28

        29       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Can we go to page AWB.0469.0104, one of

        30       the attachments to the fax from Mr Bali.  Is that your

        31       handwriting?

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   "What is this for?  Commission" - is that what you

        35       have written there?

        36       A.   That's right.

        37

        38       Q.   If we go to the next page, 0105, "What does this

        39       mean?", is that your handwriting?

        40       A.   That's correct.

        41

        42       Q.   Did you obtain answers to those questions?

        43       A.   I don't know, Mr Agius.  I would have - when

        44       I received this fax, I suspect I would have gone through

        45       it, identified what the issues were and either spoken to

        46       Mr Long or Peter Jones to try and get some clarification in

        47       relation to those questions.
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         1

         2       Q.   But you don't know whether you did?

         3       A.   No, I don't.

         4

         5       Q.   And, if you did, you haven't seen any record that you

         6       did?

         7       A.   That's what - there is no record, I believe, on the

         8       file.  But the fact that I've actually raised them and the

         9       fact that I haven't been at AWB for a long time, I would

        10       have asked someone these questions.

        11

        12       Q.   When you speak of this file, Ms Peavey, can you

        13       describe the physical dimensions of what you are calling a

        14       file?

        15       A.   The file that I reviewed this morning?

        16

        17       Q.   Yes.

        18       A.   I understand it's a combination of the legal file in

        19       relation to the collision of the Amarantos dispute and

        20       I believe it's got shipping and chartering documents in

        21       there as well.

        22

        23       Q.   So is it more than the file that I take it you were

        24       maintaining in June/July of 2002?

        25       A.   I don't quite understand what you mean.

        26

        27       Q.   Well, look, these letters and faxes date from June

        28       and July of 2002.

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   I have been operating on the assumption that when you

        32       have been speaking of a file, you have been speaking of

        33       your legal file which would contain copies of this

        34       correspondence; is that an accurate assumption?

        35       A.   I believe so.

        36

        37       Q.   So you maintained a legal file in relation to this

        38       matter?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   Within the legal office of AWB?

        42       A.   That's correct.

        43

        44       Q.   Have you seen that file today?

        45       A.   I believe I cast my eye over it this morning on the

        46       way up from Melbourne.

        47
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         1       Q.   Is that a discrete legal file - not contaminated by

         2       other documents or copies, but just a file maintained in

         3       the legal office of AWB relevant to this matter?

         4       A.   I believe so.

         5

         6       Q.   And is it in much the same form as it was in when you

         7       had custody of it?

         8       A.   I believe so.

         9

        10       Q.   Where is it?

        11       A.   It is with my counsel.

        12

        13       MR AGIUS:   Might we have that produced, Mr Commissioner?

        14       I believe it would already be caught by a notice that has

        15       been issued.

        16

        17       MR LIVERMORE:   We were asked, sir, by the solicitor

        18       assisting the Commission to bring the original of these

        19       folders, copies of which have previously been produced.

        20       I think the witness will have to identify which one is the

        21       legal file, because I'm not sure.

        22

        23       MR AGIUS:   Yes.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   I would be grateful if whatever the selection

        28       is that needs to be given to the witness could be given to

        29       her so that she might identify the legal file.

        30

        31       Q.   I wonder if you could indicate from amongst that group

        32       of four apparently manila-covered files which was the legal

        33       file.  Ms Peavey, remember the exercise.  I want you to go

        34       through those files and identify what you say was your

        35       legal file - the one maintained as a legal file at AWB by

        36       you in connection with this matter.

        37       A.   Okay.  Well, I need to explain that I was on

        38       secondment for a brief time in 2002.  I then went back to

        39       private practice and returned to AWB in the middle of 2003.

        40       So there were other people working on this file prior to me

        41       being asked to go to the AWB on secondment - there was a

        42       lawyer Alifia Sachak.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   You can find how to spell the name

        45       later on.

        46

        47       THE WITNESS:   And then while - in between the secondment
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         1       and actually going back working full time for AWB, Jess

         2       Lyons managed the file.  So we're talking about the AWB

         3       Legal file, not my file.

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Well, that's what I am asking you to find,

         6       but at some stage it was your file, was it not?

         7       A.   That's right.

         8

         9       Q.   Can you please identify that?

        10       A.   Yes.  The file identified as number 3 "MV Amarantos

        11       Wallaroo collision" is a legal file.

        12

        13       Q.   Might I just have that.  This file has on its cover

        14       the barcode which is not an inquiry barcode, but I will

        15       record it just so the file can be identified.  It is

        16       HCD.0101.0010.0001.  The pages in the file seem to be

        17       consecutively numbered up to 0010.0494.

        18

        19       MR AGIUS:   I tender that.  Perhaps it should be marked at

        20       this stage as a confidential exhibit.

        21

        22       THE WITNESS:   Can I just say that the number "3" at the

        23       front actually refers to - not that there are three files,

        24       but it is actually number 3 in the AWB Legal database.

        25       That's its file number.

        26

        27       EXHIBIT #370C LEGAL FILE IDENTIFIED BY MR AGIUS

        28

        29       MR AGIUS:   Q.   There are three other files on the desk in

        30       front of you.

        31       A.   Yes.  This file is, I believe, part of the legal file,

        32       but all it is is a copy of the chartering department's

        33       documents in relation to Amarantos.

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   Might I have that document, please.  This is a

        36       manila folder marked "Copy of Chartering Department's File

        37       on Amarantos Iraq A4970", and the file is marked with the

        38       barcode number HCD.0101.0008.0001.  I am not able to say

        39       what the last number is because the documents in it do not

        40       appear to be in numerical order.

        41

        42       Q.   There are two other folders in front of you.  Can you

        43       identify those?

        44       A.   This further folder is entitled "Shipping", but I can

        45       see that it's actually the second part of the legal file,

        46       because there's correspondence here between lawyers rather

        47       than shipping documents, so I would say that this is part B
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         1       of the legal file.

         2

         3       Q.   So the file marked "Shipping" is part B of the legal

         4       file; is that right?

         5       A.   That appears to be the case.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   That's again a manila-covered file.  This time

         8       the barcode on the cover is HCD.0101.0009.0001 through to

         9       0395.  Perhaps that should be added to the other file.

        10

        11       EXHIBIT #370C ADDITION OF MANILA-COVERED FILE MARKED

        12       "SHIPPING", BARCODED HCD.0101.0009.0001

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   I understand that they are the three files

        15       copies of which were delivered to the inquiry this morning.

        16

        17       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, at the time of delivering those,

        18       we did say to our learned friend that we would seek to have

        19       so much of the files as was not tendered remain

        20       confidential given the nature of the file - there is a

        21       record of an arbitration and the resolution of a dispute.

        22       That would seem to have no probative value apart from the

        23       few documents that we anticipated would be --

        24

        25       MR AGIUS:   I anticipate what we will do is go through the

        26       files and, when we are familiar enough with them, select

        27       the relevant documents and show them to my friend and have

        28       those marked as public exhibits, if there are documents in

        29       addition to the ones that I have otherwise tendered.

        30       Otherwise the files would be of no interest to the inquiry

        31       and we can return them.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        34

        35       MR LIVERMORE:   Mr Commissioner, might I ask that I can

        36       have possession of those files just during the course of

        37       the witness's evidence?  They do have my stickers on them

        38       to identify certain materials and otherwise I don't have

        39       access to any of the documents my friend is questioning on.

        40

        41       MR AGIUS:   I have no difficulty with that.

        42

        43       MR LIVERMORE:   Thank you.  Would it be appropriate for me

        44       to remove the stickers that I have placed on them?

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   They may be of some assistance to other

        47       people who have got to look at them.
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         1

         2       MR AGIUS:   I can give you replacement stickers.

         3

         4       Q.   Do you have another file in front of you, Ms Peavey?

         5       A.   Yes, I have just checked this file, and I believe that

         6       this is actually the chartering file.  There is some

         7       correspondence from external lawyers, but it is to people

         8       within the chartering group.

         9

        10       MR AGIUS:   Might I inquire of my learned friend whether

        11       this is a file in addition to the documents we were

        12       provided this morning?

        13

        14       MR JUDD:   It is difficult for us to say, but we understand

        15       that what was provided this morning in three lever-arch

        16       folders was a combination of the Amarantos files.  That's

        17       as much as I can say about it without comparing the two.

        18

        19       MR AGIUS:   We understand from the short opportunity we

        20       have had during the last half hour that this appears to be

        21       an additional file.  In any event, I will tender it as a

        22       confidential exhibit.  It is in a folder marked with a

        23       barcode HCD.0101.0003.0001.  The last barcoded page appears

        24       to be 0219.

        25

        26       EXHIBIT #371C FOLDER MARKED HCD.0101.0003.0001-0219

        27

        28       MR AGIUS:   I won't be very much longer with Ms Peavey.

        29       Can I continue?

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        32

        33       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I want to go back to the fax that Mr Bali

        34       sent you and the next document which was covered by that

        35       fax.  Could we bring up, please, AWB.0469.0106.  This

        36       document is a print of emails and, in particular, it

        37       included an email from Mark Emons, one of the persons named

        38       in Mr Bali's letter of 22 July 2002, to Mr Bali, in which

        39       Mr Emons sets out what he says is the basis of AWB's

        40       arrangement with Ronly; would you agree with that?

        41       A.   Well, that's what it appears to be, what Mr Emons has

        42       written.

        43

        44       Q.   And when you read this document, you would have read

        45       that Mr Emons has said in it:

        46

        47            ...under UN/Australian policy no payment



            .28/9/06 (75)              7544     R V PEAVEY (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1            can be made directly to Iraq however our

         2            contracts have been endorsed by both

         3            parties to pay this trucking fee to a third

         4            party.  Under the last contracts we have

         5            instructed the shipping companies under the

         6            Charter party to make payment to a

         7            Jordanian trucking company.  We did this to

         8            a) simplify the process from our point of

         9            view but b) To divorce clearly from the FOB

        10            price any connection with a

        11            shipping/logistics charge should the

        12            contracts come under scrutiny.  The only

        13            difference is under our own Time charters

        14            we have made the payment ourselves.

        15

        16       He goes on to say in the fourth paragraph:

        17

        18            Now this has been going quite smoothly

        19            until recently when two of our companies

        20            ran into internal problems with making the

        21            payment.  One was obviously an issue where

        22            its offshore senior management ran scared

        23            of getting caught up in sanctions etc. and

        24            everything that could entail for their

        25            business.  The other companies problem

        26            stemmed from its banking route through

        27            Singapore where there are always serious

        28            concerns in that environment on money

        29            laundering and despite assurances from

        30            ourselves they obviously have more to lose

        31            than we can guess at.

        32            5.  Now why do we want to use Ronly?  It

        33            would be ideal from our point of view if we

        34            have a third party that handles the freight

        35            and trucking as an item.  This not only

        36            saves us time but does disguise the fee.

        37

        38       Now, did you become concerned when you read that,

        39       Ms Peavey?

        40       A.   I've only re-read this this morning on my way down.

        41

        42       Q.   Did you become concerned when you read that in August

        43       of 2002?

        44       A.   I don't believe so, given that, as I said earlier,

        45       I had only been at AWB for a very short period of time.

        46       I had been assured by the business that AWB's contracts

        47       were compliant with the UN, or had been approved by the UN,
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         1       and it appears from my note on this particular email that

         2       I was obviously focusing on the indemnity issue rather than

         3       the other issues that are raised in here.  Obviously now,

         4       when I look at it today, it is of critical relevance to

         5       this inquiry.  But at the time, I don't believe that

         6       I would have considered those issues.

         7

         8       Q.   Ms Peavey, you say that you had been informed that

         9       AWB's contracts had been approved by the UN.  That was

        10       hardly news, was it, because if the contracts hadn't been

        11       approved by the UN there would have been no wheat sales to

        12       Iraq; would you agree with me?

        13       A.   That's correct.

        14

        15       Q.   So being told that the contracts were approved by the

        16       UN really told you nothing about the efficacy of the

        17       underlying transaction, did it?

        18       A.   I don't know whether I considered that at that time.

        19

        20       Q.   This document clearly speaks of avoiding scrutiny and

        21       disguising the fee.  It's a document in black and white by

        22       Mr Emons, who you had been told was responsible for AWB's

        23       business with Iraq.  Surely this rang an alarm bell for

        24       you.  Despite whatever you had been told by business people

        25       at AWB, surely this document, dating from March 2000,

        26       speaking of avoiding scrutiny and disguising the fee, rang

        27       an alarm bell for you.

        28       A.   All I can say is it rings alarm bells now, but I'm not

        29       aware - I'm not sure of what I thought at that time, back

        30       in 2002, given that I had had limited knowledge of the AWB

        31       business, had no experience with dealing with the UN.

        32

        33       Q.   Do you need special knowledge to be concerned as a

        34       lawyer when you read in the business documents of your

        35       clients words like "disguising fees" and "divorcing

        36       trucking fees from an FOB price should the documents come

        37       under scrutiny"?

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Or that the system had been

        40       abandoned because of fears about money laundering?

        41       A.   I can't say what I thought at that time.

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Ms Peavey, this document would have burnt

        44       your fingers, wouldn't it?  Even if everything in it was

        45       untrue, it was enough for concern.

        46       A.   Well, my understanding is that our external lawyers

        47       had access to this information.  People who had been
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         1       dealing with the file previously to my arrival at AWB had

         2       access to this information.

         3

         4       Q.   Who were they?  Who were the external lawyers that had

         5       access to this email prior to your arrival at AWB?

         6       A.   Well, Phillips Fox.  My understanding is that they had

         7       been involved for quite some time, since the vessel

         8       collided --

         9

        10       Q.   Yes, but Ms Peavey, you know the date at which the

        11       claim was made upon AWB by Ronly; it was within your tenure

        12       at AWB, because the matter had been assigned to you by

        13       Mr Cooper to deal with that very matter.  We've been

        14       through all those documents.

        15       A.   Yes, that's correct.

        16

        17       Q.   This document emerges in connection with Ronly's

        18       claim, not with the larger Amarantos matter.  It emerges

        19       specifically in connection with Ronly's claim upon AWB for

        20       indemnity, doesn't it?

        21       A.   That's correct.

        22

        23       Q.   The matter that had been assigned to you to deal with?

        24       A.   Well, for me to manage.

        25

        26       Q.   Yes.  Well, what did you do when you read those

        27       portions of this email from 7 March 2000 about that

        28       material?  Did you go and speak to somebody?  Did you say,

        29       "Is this true?  Have we been avoiding scrutiny?  Have we

        30       been disguising fees?" Did you go to Mr Cooper and say,

        31       "Look, I'm inexperienced, this is too hot for me.  There is

        32       illegality written all over this.  I don't want to be a

        33       party to it"?

        34       A.   I don't recall.  I haven't had --

        35

        36       Q.   How could you forget?

        37       A.   Sorry?

        38

        39       Q.   How could you forget?

        40       A.   Well, all I can say is what I believe to be the case.

        41

        42       Q.   So you don't recall what you did?

        43       A.   I don't recall.  I think, given my handwritten notes,

        44       I've obviously raised a number of issues, but I'm not sure

        45       who I went to speak to about those issues, but --

        46

        47       Q.   Can we go to the next page.  It appears that you got
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         1       some answers.  The next page is 0107.  This is part of a

         2       train of emails.  You will see in the email near the top of

         3       the page your handwriting, with a line from NCO, you have

         4       written:

         5

         6            Nigel Officer (GM --

         7

         8       which I take to be "general manager" --

         9

        10            International Sales and Marketing).

        11

        12       Was that information that was provided to you?

        13       A.   Yes.

        14

        15       Q.   By whom?

        16       A.   I think someone from the business - whether it was

        17       Michael Long or Peter Jones.

        18

        19       Q.   One of those two?

        20       A.   Sorry?

        21

        22       Q.   One of those two?

        23       A.   One of those two, yes.

        24

        25       Q.   May we take it, then, that you discussed the

        26       attachments to Mr Bali's fax of 16 August with either Peter

        27       Jones or Michael Long?

        28       A.   That's correct.

        29

        30       Q.   And if you did nothing more after you received these

        31       copies of emails, may we take it that the reason why you

        32       did nothing more was because of what you were told by

        33       either Mr Long or Mr Jones, or might there be other persons

        34       who determined your course of action after your receipt of

        35       these emails?

        36

        37       MR LIVERMORE:   I think we do need to clarify something,

        38       because it is apparent from the file that the document of

        39       16 August and attachments were provided to Phillips Fox

        40       solicitors by Ms Lyons, and they responded with a proposed

        41       response to that letter.  I don't know whether my friend

        42       has those documents or not.

        43

        44       MR AGIUS:   Yes, we have those documents.

        45

        46       Q.   Let me go back to my question:  if you did nothing

        47       more after you received copies of these emails, may we take
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         1       it that the reason why you did nothing more was because of

         2       what you were told by either Mr Long or Mr Jones, or might

         3       there have been other persons who determined your course of

         4       action after your receipt of the emails?

         5       A.   I can't recall, Mr Agius, but given the questions that

         6       I've asked and marked on those papers, it would only -

         7       I could only have spoken to the people involved in the

         8       Amarantos matter, and I must have received reassurance that

         9       no further inquiries needed to be made.

        10

        11       Q.   Just for completeness, would you read on to the

        12       record, please, the balance of your handwriting on that

        13       page?

        14       A.   Where I have got underlined "send a fax to Simone with

        15       an official request and LOI details etc", I have marked "Do

        16       we have this?"

        17

        18       Q.   And under that you have drawn a line and the word

        19       "agreement"?

        20       A.  :

        21

        22            Verbal agreement via 3rd person but relates

        23            to freight.

        24

        25       And I think under that it says:

        26

        27            Structure.

        28            Does not appear to be a final agreement.

        29

        30       1Q.   And then at the bottom of the page:

        31

        32            No authority from AWB --

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Is it "freight structure" or

        35       "freight plus trucking"?

        36       A.   I think - well, that relates to freight and trucking;

        37       it's possible.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Q.   At the bottom of the page:

        40

        41            No authority from AWB management - NCO -

        42            Nigel Officer.

        43

        44       A.   I think I have been told by someone that it's possible

        45       that whatever we were discussing at that time had no AWB

        46       authority.

        47
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         1       Q.   When you say it is possible, why do you introduce the

         2       word "possible"?  We don't see that in your note.  What we

         3       read is "No authority from AWB management - NCO - Nigel

         4       Officer."  What were you told that led you to write that

         5       note?

         6       A.   I'm not really sure what that refers to, reading it,

         7       sitting there on its own.  I'm not really sure who I was

         8       talking to at that time.  I'm really not sure what that "no

         9       authority" refers to.

        10

        11       Q.   You are aware, aren't you, that the fax from Mr Bali

        12       and the accompanying documents were sent to Phillips Fox?

        13       A.   Yes.

        14

        15       Q.   And you are aware that the fax and the attachments

        16       came to the notice of Jessica Lyons?

        17       A.   That appears to be the case from the file, yes.

        18

        19       Q.   And that she sent copies of them as well?

        20       A.   Yes.

        21

        22       Q.   So it's likely, then, that you had read and knew about

        23       the contents of this fax and the attachments; that Ms Lyons

        24       had read and sent the fax and attachments to Phillips Fox;

        25       and that Phillips Fox had knowledge of the fax and the

        26       attachments?

        27       A.   I believe that's the case, yes.

        28

        29       Q.   Now, in all of those circumstances, can you point to

        30       any document that evidences any approach to Messrs Flugge,

        31       Watson, Officer, Emons or Ingleby about the matters

        32       referred to in Mr Nori Bali's letter of 22 July 2002?

        33       A.   I don't believe there's anything on the file, but, as

        34       I said, I've only had a very quick look at the legal file.

        35

        36       Q.   You mentioned - this is my last question - in the

        37       course of your evidence that you were told that the AWB

        38       contracts were UN approved?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   Who told you that?

        42       A.   Well, it would have either been Peter Jones or Michael

        43       Long.

        44

        45       Q.   And in what context were you told that?

        46       A.   I seem to recall some file notes on the legal file

        47       that I looked at this morning that seem to indicate that
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         1       I was told that.

         2

         3       Q.   But in what context?

         4       A.   I can't recall.  I can't remember.

         5

         6       Q.   Can you identify those file notes?

         7       A.   I would have to have a look at the file.

         8

         9       Q.   Why is it, Ms Peavey, that neither Mr Nori Bali's fax

        10       of 16 August 2002, including the documents that accompanied

        11       it, nor your fax to Mr Bali of 13 August 2002, were

        12       provided to this inquiry prior to last evening in relation

        13       to the 16 August fax and this morning in relation to the

        14       13th August fax?

        15       A.   I don't know, Mr Agius.

        16

        17       Q.   Were you not charged at one time with the

        18       responsibility for ensuring that AWB made a full and proper

        19       answer to the notices that had been issued by this inquiry?

        20       A.   That's correct.  I was working with Ms Gillingham in

        21       responding to the various notices.  Up until probably about

        22       six weeks ago, when I was served with a notice, I thought

        23       it was improper for me to continue dealing with document

        24       production, given that some of those documents would be my

        25       documents.

        26

        27       Q.   These documents contain the words "Ronly",

        28       "sanctions", "trucking fees".  Were they not words included

        29       in string lines that were used to electronically search

        30       AWB's documents?

        31       A.   Yes, they should have been - they should have been

        32       picked up.  Particularly the emails; if the emails had not

        33       been deleted but were part of the data sets of the various

        34       people - for example, this Mark Emons email that is up on

        35       the screen at the moment - my understanding from my

        36       knowledge of the restoration of emails is that that should

        37       have been picked up, because you have got the right dates,

        38       you have got the name - the person that you're interested

        39       in.

        40

        41       Q.   And you have the words "trucking fee" in every one of

        42       those emails?

        43       A.   Exactly.  So it should have been picked up.  I don't

        44       know why it hasn't been produced earlier.

        45

        46       Q.   So you can't say why it was that it wasn't picked up

        47       on the electronic search?
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         1       A.   I don't have the technical IT knowledge to explain

         2       that.

         3

         4       Q.   Can you say why it was that it wasn't picked up on the

         5       physical search, given that the fax of 16 August and the

         6       attached documents all appear to have been printed off, and

         7       some of them bear your handwriting?

         8       A.   Yes, I see that.  My understanding is that all hard

         9       copy files relating to - particularly deliveries of wheat

        10       to Iraq have been filed to the Commission.

        11

        12       Q.   Yes, but these documents weren't, and I am asking you

        13       can you explain why it was that these documents, which we

        14       spent so much time on today, were not picked up during the

        15       course of the physical search for hard copy documents at

        16       AWB?

        17       A.   I can't explain that, no.

        18

        19       Q.   Well, if you can't, who can?

        20       A.   I think you would have to ask the company's lawyers

        21       why that is the case.

        22

        23       Q.   The company's lawyers?

        24       A.   Yes - ABL.

        25

        26       Q.   And why do you say that?

        27       A.   Well, because AWB have been putting together all the

        28       relevant documents.  In terms of my involvement up until a

        29       few months ago, we went through a very vigorous process of

        30       locating millions of emails and many, many hard copy files,

        31       and producing those to ABL, where relevant.

        32

        33       Q.   You used the word "critical" in relation to the Emons

        34       email that I read to you?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   How could it be that such a critical document, the

        38       physical document, the copy that has your handwriting on

        39       it, was not produced to the inquiry before last night?

        40

        41       MR LIVERMORE:   The witness has answered that question,

        42       with respect, sir.  She says she is not the appropriate

        43       person to give the answer and explained why.

        44

        45       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Did you ever set the Amarantos files aside

        46       as not being relevant to this inquiry?

        47       A.   I don't believe so, no.
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         1

         2       Q.   Do you know whether anybody did?

         3       A.   I - I don't know.

         4

         5       Q.   These documents have a barcoding at the bottom, an

         6       "HCD" barcode.  Do you know when that process was

         7       undertaken?

         8       A.   No.  It's not a coding that I'm familiar with, and I'm

         9       not sure when that was applied.

        10

        11       Q.   When you gave evidence before this inquiry yesterday,

        12       Ms Peavey, what was your belief in relation to whether or

        13       not Mr Bali's fax of 16 August 2002 and the attachments had

        14       been produced to the inquiry?

        15       A.   Sorry, what was the question?

        16

        17       Q.   When you gave evidence yesterday, what was the state

        18       of your belief as to whether or not Mr Bali's fax of

        19       16 August 2002 and the attachments had been produced to the

        20       inquiry?

        21       A.   Well, I don't know, because I hadn't seen a copy of

        22       that fax until yesterday, when you put it to me in

        23       evidence.

        24

        25       Q.   I didn't put it to you in evidence yesterday,

        26       Ms Peavey; I was prevented from doing that, because we

        27       never had it.

        28       A.   Oh, sorry.  There was a lot of documents you put to me

        29       yesterday.

        30

        31       Q.   Hasn't it yet been impressed upon you that the reason

        32       why you are back here today is because we didn't have these

        33       documents to examine you upon yesterday?

        34       A.   Yes, that's right.

        35

        36       Q.   So when you came here yesterday, what was the state of

        37       your belief as to whether or not we had these documents?

        38       Did you believe we didn't have them?  Did you believe we

        39       did have them?  Didn't you care?  Didn't you know?

        40       A.   Well, I didn't know.  I don't recall seeing that

        41       email, that fax from Mr Nori, until I was shown it this

        42       morning.

        43

        44       Q.   I wonder before you leave if you would go through the

        45       files and indicate the file notes that you referred to when

        46       you said, "I seem to recall some file notes on the legal

        47       file that I looked at this morning that seem to indicate
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         1       I was told that"?

         2       A.   Yes.  I am happy to do that.

         3

         4       Q.   And you said material that you had been told by either

         5       Mr Jones or Mr Long.

         6       A.   Yes.  Can I do that now?

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   Is that a convenient time?

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        11

        12       MR EVANS:   Mr Commissioner, I am sorry to do this at this

        13       time of day.  Unless Ms Peavey is intended to come back

        14       tomorrow --

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think she probably will have to, if

        17       she is going to go through the files tonight.

        18

        19       MR EVANS:   I was going to make an application to ask her

        20       some questions.

        21

        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   Does anybody else think they will need

        23       to ask Ms Peavey some questions?

        24

        25       MR JUDD:   I think I may have to ask a couple of questions,

        26       Commissioner.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, very well, all right.  I think

        29       I should adjourn at this time.

        30

        31       MR LIVERMORE:   Could I be bold enough, sir, to submit that

        32       Ms Peavey's evidence be completed tonight?  She is prepared

        33       to stay after evidence is completed in the precincts and

        34       identify the documents that my friend asked her to

        35       identify.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   But at least two people may wish to ask

        38       questions in addition to Mr Agius.  He must be given a

        39       chance to look at the notes that she may find and consider

        40       what they mean.  It is 10 past 6 and we have been going

        41       since 10 o'clock this morning.  I'm afraid she will have to

        42       come back.  I will adjourn until 10am.

        43

        44       AT 6.10PM THE HEARING WAS ADJOURNED

        45       TO FRIDAY, 29 SEPTEMBER 2006 AT 10AM

        46

        47
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